THESIS

COMPARISON OF FIVE ORAL CANNABIDIOL PREPARATIONS IN ADULT HUMANS: PHARMACOKINETICS, BODY COMPOSITION, AND HEART RATE VARIABILITY

Submitted by

Natasha N. Bondareva Williams

Department of Health and Exercise Science

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Master of Science

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Fall 2021

Master's Committee:

Advisor: Christopher Bell

Tiffany Weir Tom LaRocca Copyright by Natasha N. Bondareva Williams 2021

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

COMPARISON OF FIVE ORAL CANNABIDIOL PREPARATIONS IN ADULT HUMANS: PHARMACOKINETICS, BODY COMPOSITION, AND HEART RATE VARIABILITY

Data supporting the physiological effects of cannabidiol (CBD) ingestion in humans are conflicting. Differences between CBD preparations and bioavailability may contribute to these discrepancies. Further, an influence of body composition on CBD bioavailability is feasible, but currently undocumented. The aims of this study were to: (1) compare the pharmacokinetics of five oral CBD preparations over 4 hours; (2) examine the relationship between body composition and CBD pharmacokinetics; and, (3) explore the influence of CBD on heart rate variability. In total, five preparations of CBD, standardized to 30 mg, were administered orally to 15 healthy men and women (21–62 years) in a randomized, crossover design. Prior to and 60 min following CBD ingestion, heart rate variability was determined. Body composition was assessed using dual energy X-ray absorptiometry. Peak circulating CBD concentration, time to peak concentration, and area under the curve was superior in a preparation comprising 5% CBD concentration liquid. Fat free mass was a significant predictor ($R^2 = 0.365$, p = 0.017) of time to peak concentration for this preparation. Several heart rate variability parameters, including peak frequency of the high frequency band, were favorably, but modestly modified following CBD ingestion. These data confirm an influence of CBD preparation and body composition on CBD bioavailability, and suggest that acute CBD ingestion may have a modest influence on autonomic regulation of heart rate.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to my science mentor Dr. Christopher Bell who accepted me into his Integrative Biology Laboratory and provided guidance and support for the last several years. I would like to thank our lab members: Taylor Ewell, Kieran Abbotts, and Kole Harms for their excellent teamwork collecting data for this study. I am thankful to Dr. Dooley and Natalie Akagi for performing plasma pharmacokinetic analysis for this study. My special thanks to Dr. Hickey: without his help and support I wouldn't be at HES and would have no chance to complete this thesis. I would like to thank faculty members whose courses I've taken during my years at HES and all the lab members with whom I've worked together in the lab. I am grateful for the knowledge and the skills that I acquired by being part of the Integrative Biology Laboratory; I had very interesting and productive time here. Also, I would like to thank all the participants for volunteering for this study, and Caliper Foods for providing financial support. This thesis is a result of human cooperation and integration of ideas, skills, and resources. Thank you all!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	111
LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	V1
Chapter 1. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	

1.1	Cannabidiol: Sources and Structure	1
1.2	Overview of Pharmacokinetic Parameters	4
1.3	Pharmaceutical CBD Formulations and Routes of Administration	9
1.4	CBD Bioavailability and Pharmacokinetics	12
1.5	Mode of Action and Molecular Targets of Cannabidiol	24
1.6	Clinical Applications and Therapeutic Potential of Cannabidiol	29
1.7	Conclusion	32
Chap	ter 2. INTRODUCTION TO CANNABIDIOL STUDY	34

Chapter 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1	Study Subjects	38
3.2	Study Design	38
3.3	Study Procedures	39
3.4	Cannabidiol Preparations	41
3.5	Plasma Cannabidiol Analysis	42
3.6	Pharmacokinetic Analysis	43
3.7	Statistical Analysis	43

Chapter 4. RESULTS

Subject Characteristics	45
Pharmacokinetics of Plasma CBD Concentrations	46
Body Composition	51
Heart Rate Variability	51
	Subject Characteristics Pharmacokinetics of Plasma CBD Concentrations Body Composition Heart Rate Variability

Chapter 5. DISCUSSION

5.1 5.2 5.3	Pharmacokinetics of CBD Preparations Effect of Body Composition CBD Influence on Heart Rate Variability	55 60 61
CON	CLUSION	64 65
REFE	ERENCES	05

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1.	Pharmacokinetic parameters for oral CBD administration in comparable	
	studies	18
Table 3.1.	Features of the cannabidiol (CBD) preparations	4
Table 4.1.	Selected physiological characteristics of study participants	40
Table 4.2.	Pharmacokinetic Parameters	48
Table 4.3.	Heart rate variability prior to and 60 min following 30 mg cannabidiol ingestion	5.
Table 4.4.	Heart rate and blood pressure response to five different cannabidiol preparations	54
Table 5.1.	Comparison of pharmacokinetic parameters of current preparations with	
	previously reported studies of ingestible cannabidiol doses 5-30 mg	58

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1.	Optical isomers of CBD	3
Figure 1.2.	Phytocannabinoid CBD analogs	4
Figure 1.3.	Pharmacokinetic parameters describing a typical plasma concentration	
	time profile after an oral administration	7
Figure 1.4.	C _{max} values plotted against administered single oral CBD dose	20
Figure 1.5.	T _{max} values plotted against administered single oral CBD dose	21
Figure 1.6.	AUC _{0-t} values plotted against administered single oral CBD dose	21
Figure 1.7.	Cannabidiol bioavailability (F) and dose relationship	23
Figure 1.8.	Pie chart showing the proportions of different molecular targets for	
	cannabidiol described in the literature	26
Figure 4.1.	Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) flow diagram	45
Figure 4.2.	Circulating cannabidiol (CBD) concentration following ingestion of five	
	different preparations	47
Figure 4.3.	Maximum concentration of CBD in blood plasma (C_{max}) (A) and total drug	
	exposure during four hours (AUC ₀₋₄) (B) after administration of five CBD	
	formulations/preparations	49
Figure 4.4.	Individual data of circulating cannabidiol (CBD) concentration following	
	ingestion of five different preparations for three participants	50

Chapter 1. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

1.1. Cannabidiol: Sources and Structure

Cannabidiol is a natural component of *Cannabis* plants. *Cannabis* is a genus of dioecious flowering plants that belong to the family *Cannabaceae*. The genus originated in Central Asia, presumably somewhere in the foothills of the Himalayas (Merlin, 2003). It became widespread due to extensive cultivation for over 6000 years. Currently, three separate species are recognized: *Cannabis sativa* L., *Cannabis indica* Lam., and *Cannabis ruderalis* Janisch., though some botanists consider the latter two as subspecies of *C. sativa* (Laursen, 2015; Turner, Elsohly, & Boeran, 1980). *C. sativa* and *C. indica* are more economically important and widely cultivated, while *C. ruderalis* is considered a hardier variety and is cultivated in harsher climatic regions (ElSohly, Radwan, Gul, Chandra, & Galal, 2017).

Since *C. sativa* is the main species purported for medicinal properties and economic potential, several different varieties arose from the original form, all possessing different physical and chemical qualities for which they were bred. *Cannabis* plants produce a number of phytochemicals that belong to three major groups: cannabinoids, flavones, and terpenes (Pellati et al., 2018). The most important of these is the unique family of phenolic compounds called cannabinoids. To date, about 120 cannabinoids have been isolated and identified. These can be classified into 11 general types. The most important types out of these 11 are tetrahydrocannabinol (THC-type) and cannabidiol (CBD-type) chemical classes (ElSohly et al., 2017). These two cannabis constituents are used in medications prescribed for treatment of epileptic seizures and as analgesics in advanced cancer. Cannabinoids accumulate mainly in the glandular trichomes that cover the leaves and buds of a plant (Kim & Mahlberg, 2003; Mahlberg & Kim, 2004). The concentration of THC and CBD in the dried inflorescence (leaves and buds)

is used to determine cannabinoid profile of a specific cultivar of C. sativa, which employs both quantitative and qualitative analysis (Calvi et al., 2018). Cultivation of C. sativa targets specific chemical profiles. Varieties cultivated for hemp production are described as "fiber type" and have low concentrations of cannabinoids, while varieties cultivated for medicinal and psychoactive purposes are enriched in cannabinoids, and specifically in the most desired components for drug production. Though the border between the "non-intoxicating" and "intoxicating" strains of Cannabis plants is somewhat blurred, some institutions established the guidelines according to the THC content, classifying plants with less than 0.3% THC as hemp and those with more than 0.3% THC as marijuana (Laursen, 2015). There is an even more precise definition of *C. sativa* phenotypes, based on THC and CBD content percentage, and their ratio, which describes three phenotypes. Phenotype I (drug-type): THC>0.5%, CBD<0.5%, ratio of THC/CBD >>1. Phenotype II (intermediate type): THC and CBD are present in various concentrations, THC/CBD ~1. Phenotype III (fiber-type): low THC contents, THC/CBD <<1. Though environmental conditions can influence cannabinoid concentrations at different stages of growth and in different parts of the plants, the THC/CBD ratio is considered to be genetically determined (ElSohly et al., 2017).

Returning to the 11 general types of cannabinoids, one class is called cannabidiol, or the CBD-type group of cannabinoids. In 1940, cannabidiol was isolated from marijuana extract and its structure described (Adams, Hunt, & Clark, 1940). Since then, more components of this group were identified and described. Currently, this chemical class includes seven distinct constituents (Hanus, Meyer, Munoz, Taglialatela-Scafati, & Appendino, 2016; Morales, Reggio, & Jagerovic, 2017). The CBD-type compounds have the same basic configuration, "50-methyl-20-(prop-1-en-2-yl)-10,20,30,40-tetrahydro-[1,10-biphenyl]-2,6-dioles retaining the trans-

(1R,6R) configuration" (Morales et al., 2017, p. 3); they differ in number and type of functional groups, and in the length of their side chains. The most active form of the CBD-type cannabidiol group, cannabidiol, exists in two optical isomers (Fig.1.1) (Li et al., 2020). Only (-)-CBD occurs naturally in cannabis plants; (+)-CBD is chemically synthesized (Burstein, 2015).



Figure 1.1. Optical isomers of CBD (Li et al. "Overview of cannabidiol (CBD) and its analogues: Structures, biological activities..." *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 2020).

Natural CBD compounds undergo biotransformation in the human body, and multiple natural metabolites are identified and described. The most recent review presents a list of 23 natural CBD metabolites and their chemical structures (Li et al., 2020). The very first and major active metabolite of CBD, 7-hydroxy-cannabidiol, 7-OH-CBD, is produced in the liver by hydroxylation at the C-7 position, followed by hydroxylation at C-6, which produces 6-OH-CBD and 6,7-di-OH-CBD. The CYP450 enzymes involved in these reactions are described in the following sections. Another metabolite, 7-carboxy-cannabidiol, 7-COOH-CBD, shows the highest plasma concentration after oral CBD administration (Taylor, Gidal, Blakey, Tayo, & Morrison, 2018). A number of other hydroxylated and carboxylated CBD metabolites is subsequently produced in the liver; and it is hypothesized that many observed biological effects may be due to active metabolites rather than CBD itself, but their modes of action are not yet elucidated (Li et al., 2020). Some of the natural metabolites of CBD and its synthetic analogs are presented in Fig. 1.2.



Figure 1.2. Phytocannabinoid CBD analogs (Morales et al. "An overview on medicinal chemistry of synthetic and natural derivatives of cannabidiol." *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 2017).

1.2. Overview of Pharmacokinetic Parameters

Cannabidiol is a substance that is currently approved for specific therapeutic purposes, in contrast to THC or CBD+THC combinations that may be used for either therapeutic purposes, psychedelic effects, or both. Introduction of any substance into the human body with expectations of a particular effect is subject to an input-response relationship which consists of two parts: pharmacokinetic phase and pharmacodynamic phase (Tozer & Rowland, 2006). The pharmacokinetic phase describes the dose, frequency, route of administration, and concentrations of the substance in blood and tissues that are achieved with time. The pharmacodynamic phase describes the relationship between concentrations of the substance and its effects on the organism.

Pharmacokinetic parameters measure the systemic exposure-time profile as a function of dose and rate of input, distribution, and elimination. Different body fluids can be used for exposure assessment, such as, whole blood, plasma, serum, urine, and oral fluid (saliva). In

several studies, where CBD was administered by smoking cannabis cigarettes, oral fluid was collected for assessment (D. Lee et al., 2012; Newmeyer et al., 2014; Swortwood et al., 2017). One of the CBD studies used whole blood for pharmacokinetic assessments (Schwope, Karschner, Gorelick, & Huestis, 2011). However, the most commonly sampled fluid is blood plasma. It is easily obtained by centrifugation of the whole blood immediately following blood collection and can be stored in the freezer for long periods of time before samples are analyzed. Plasma analysis is considered an industry standard in pharmacokinetic. The rest of this section presents general information on the most common pharmacokinetic parameters: their meaning, measurement methods, and calculation algorithms. These descriptions are mostly based on the relevant information from two textbooks: *Introduction to Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics: The Quantitative Basis of Drug Therapy* (Tozer & Rowland, 2006) and *Concepts of Clinical Pharmacokinetics* (DiPrio, Spruill, & Blouin, 2010). In some places we also referred to the symposium notes from *Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics: Research Design and Analysis* (Smith, 1986).

For a drug to achieve its therapeutic effects, a specific concentration in the body is required. The most common approach is to examine the pharmacokinetics of the drug after a single dose administration. The drug is administered after collection of a baseline blood sample. After that, blood sampling continues at specific time intervals for the required number of hours. The plasma drug concentration data are plotted against time, creating a concentration-time curve (Fig. 1.3). The most important pharmacokinetic parameters are C_{max} , T_{max} , and AUC. The maximum concentration, C_{max} , also called maximum systemic exposure, is the highest concentration of the drug in the plasma. The time of maximum concentration, T_{max} , also called time of maximum exposure, is the time of C_{max} occurrence. The area under the concentration-

time curve, abbreviated AUC, is the measure of total systemic exposure. After a single oral dose, the plasma concentration continues to rise as long as the rate of absorption exceeds the rate of elimination, and eventually reaches C_{max} at T_{max} . This is the point at which the rate of absorption is equal to the rate of elimination. After that point, the rate of elimination exceeds the rate of absorption, and plasma concentration starts to decline.

The other two very useful pharmacokinetic parameters are "volume of distribution" (V_d) and "elimination rate constant" (K_e). After administration, the drug must cross multiple membranes before arriving at its target tissue, and the distribution of the drug is closely connected to perfusion. Movement of the drug out of the vasculature continues until equilibrium is achieved between the blood plasma and the tissues. At this point the volume of distribution can be calculated, customarily recorded in liters:

 V_d = amount of drug in the body/plasma drug concentration.

The elimination rate constant (K_e) represents the fraction of a drug removed per unit of time and is usually expressed in reciprocal units of time (1/h, or h⁻¹); or it can also be expressed as percentage per hour: if $K_e = 5\%$, then this amount of volume is eliminated from the body each hour. Another common characteristic in pharmacokinetics is a "half-life" ($t_{1/2}$), which describes a span of time during which the concentration of the drug is reduced by one half. It can be calculated based on the elimination rate (K_e) and a constant of 0.693 according to the following equation:

 $t_{1/2} = 0.693/K_e$

One of the most important pharmacokinetic parameters is AUC: the area under the plasma concentration - time curve. The AUC represents total systemic exposure to the drug and

is determined by the given dose and rate of clearance. It is usually expressed in $(mg \ x \ h)/L$. AUC can be calculated by computer modeling applying the "trapezoid rule." This gives the AUC value from the time zero of drug administration to the time of the final measurement of drug concentration and is expressed as AUC_{0-t}, where t is the time of the last blood sample. The other parameter, AUC_{0-inf}, includes the small terminal area under the curve during which there is no measurement, and which is estimated by dividing the last plasma concentration by the elimination rate constant (K_e).



Figure 1.3. Pharmacokinetic parameters describing a typical plasma concentration time profile after an oral administration. (Mehrotra et al., "The role of pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitor therapy", *International Journal of Impotence Research*, 2007).

All the pharmacokinetic parameters described above are applicable to any mode of drug administration. An additional parameter, the absorption rate constant (K_a), is calculated when a drug is administered by extravascular mode, which is any mode except for intravenous injection. This value defines the fraction of a drug that is absorbed per unit of time and is expressed in 1/h units. It is hard to measure K_a directly because elimination can occur before absorption is complete. Therefore, it is usually calculated by the method of residuals, which estimates what the plasma drug concentration would be if absorption was instantaneous, and then uses the difference between the measured and estimated concentrations.

This covers all the essential pharmacokinetic parameters. However, an additional concept of "bioavailability" emerges for the drugs administered orally because absorption is always incomplete in the gastrointestinal tract. Bioavailability (F) estimates the fraction of the total given dose that reaches systemic circulation. The only way to specifically calculate F for a particular drug is to compare the AUC of intravenous administration, where the entire dose is injected into systemic circulation, to the AUC of oral administration, where only part of the dose reaches systemic circulation. The oral bioavailability of any drug is always less than 1, which means that entire administered dose never enters the system, and part of it is eliminated with feces. Alterations in formulations (for example, creating a water-based vs. an oil-based formula, or adding some active ingredients to different foods, etc.) can affect bioavailability and change absorption and distribution kinetics. Bioavailability can be calculated as following:

F = amount of drug reaching systemic circulation/total amount of administered drug

The main bioavailability study questions that are addressed in most pharmacokinetic studies are as follows: (a) Is the oral bioavailability of the drug in Formulation A different from that of Formulation B? (b) What factors contribute to bioavailability variations between the formulations? (c) What factors contribute to bioavailability variations between the subjects? Substantial inter-subject variability may exist in both pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Bioavailability is different for different drugs, and for the same drug it may reflect the type of formulation. It is possible to evaluate dose-exposure relationships more rigorously by comparing data across different studies. People differ in their responses due to a number of factors: age, genetics, body composition, state of health, behavioral habits, environmental exposures, etc. (Tozer & Rowland, 2006). Therefore, substantial inter-individual variability may be reflected in the findings of pharmacokinetic studies, especially if parallel-arm design is employed or if the

study focuses on a specific segment of the population. Analyzing all male groups *vs*. mixed male/female groups of subjects may affect concentration-time relationship due to a higher degree of clearance by the metabolically active and better perfused skeletal muscle tissue in males. Alternatively, greater body adiposity in females and/or older individuals may affect pharmacokinetics of lipophilic drugs also by altering the rate of clearance. Gastrointestinal conditions affect the rate of absorption and cardiovascular conditions affect the rate of distribution, thus influencing all pharmacokinetic parameters. Randomized cross-over study designs are the best way of minimizing the effects of inter-individual variability on PK parameters, however they cannot completely attend to the possible fluctuations of the state of individuals on separate visits. All available published pharmacokinetic information for oral CBD formulations is collated and analyzed in the following sections.

1.3. Pharmaceutical CBD Formulations and Routes of Administration

Cannabidiol formulations are based on either natural (extracted from the *Cannabis* plants) or synthetic (chemically synthesized in the laboratory) compounds. All natural *Cannabis* products contain several active compounds, with CBD/THC in different ratios. Depending on the purpose of the formulated drug, the preparation is specifically enriched in CBD, THC, or both. However, even the most purified preparation geared towards one of the compounds still contains some amount of the other. Natural CBD extract can be produced by several extraction techniques: carbon dioxide extraction, ethanol extraction, or solvent extraction with oil (Cather & Cather, 2020). The CBD extract can be categorized as full spectrum, broad spectrum, or isolate, with full spectrum containing most of the other *Cannabis* chemical compounds, and isolate being the most pure CBD (Cather & Cather, 2020).

CBD is used by consumers in a wide variety of formulations both in local and systemic applications. Popular CBD products with a local mode of administration are represented by creams, lotions, sprays, rubs, and other transdermal topicals. These are mostly effective for neuropathic pain relief (Eskander, Spall, Spall, Shah, & Kaye, 2020; Giacoppo et al., 2015; Xu, Cullen, Tang, & Fang, 2020).

Systemically, CBD can be introduced into the body either by intravascular or extravascular modes. Drugs are rarely given alone as a pure substance. Usually, they are formulated into products that are convenient for administration and are also supposed to optimize the drug's performance. The CBD/THC formulations can be designed for a fast or slow drug release depending on whether acute or a prolonged effect is desired. Delivery through the lungs facilitates fast absorption (Gould, 2015), and can be accomplished by smoking a cigarette or by using vaporizers (Arkell et al., 2019; Lanz, Mattsson, Soydaner, & Brenneisen, 2016; MacCallum & Russo, 2018; Spindle et al., 2020; van de Donk et al., 2019). Another method of fast delivery with direct absorption into the bloodstream is through the mucus membranes. Oral sprays, either sublingual, oropharyngeal, or buccal, accomplish that (Millar, Stone, Yates, & O'Sullivan, 2018). Sublingual drops are a way of combining trans-mucosal delivery with ingestion, and their mechanics are somewhat different from mucosal sprays (Guy & Flint, 2004). Intravenous formulations of cannabidiol are also available (Ohlsson et al., 1986). Although they are the most direct and complete route of drug delivery, they are also the most invasive and inconvenient for regular use. Ingestion is an administration route that involves compounds passing through the liver, which can destroy or modify cannabinoids (Gould, 2015). For the general consumer, some preferred products are commercial CBD-infused foods and drinks, oil capsules, and sometimes the addition of CBD oils or tinctures to home-made dishes. Ingestible

herbal preparations are considered hard to control therapeutically because they may contain many different compounds, some of which may be active and exert their own effect, or interfere with the effects of the main therapeutic ingredients (Tozer & Rowland, 2006).

Only two oral CBD formulations are currently licensed for medical use. The United States Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicine Agency approved two CBD formulations, Sativex® and Epidiolex®, both developed by GW Pharmaceuticals. Sativex® is an oromucosal spray, containing both CBD and THC (in 1:1ratio) suspended in ethanol anhydrous, propylene glycol and peppermint oil (Millar, Maguire, Yates, & O'Sullivan, 2020). It is produced by combining two standardized GW Pharmaceuticals' extracts (Tetranabinex®, which is high in THC, and Nabidiolex®, which is high in CBD) in almost equal amounts. THC and CBD represent approximately 70% of the product, and about 5% consists of other cannabinoids (Huestis, 2007). Epidiolex® is an oral solution that contains highly purified (98% pure) plant-derived CBD with less than 0.15% THC suspended in sesame oil at a concentration of 100 mg/ml (Leehey, 2020; Sekar & Pack, 2019).

Other ingestible CBD products have been developed by multiple pharmaceutical companies, and include liquid solutions, powders, soft-gel capsules, tablets, and more (Millar et al., 2020). In oromucosal administrations at least part of the administered dose is absorbed directly into the blood through mucus membranes, and the rest is swallowed. Ingested CBD has to be absorbed in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract, and the process of absorption has not been elucidated. As a lipophilic substance, in theory CBD should follow the mode of lipid absorption: micelle formation in the small intestine, passing through the watery brush border of enterocytes, entering lymphatic transport, and then delivered to the systemic circulation, bypassing the liver. Nevertheless, CBD is reported to be subject to extensive first-pass metabolism, which means

delivery to the liver through the portal vein. We can speculate that CBD enters GI epithelium by the "lipid route" but exits enterocytes into the capillaries rather than lacteals, and subsequently into the portal vein. It seems that the oromucosal route is somewhat superior to the ingestible route since it circumvents some of the problems associated with GI absorption and first-pass metabolism. However, it has been suggested that a substantial part of an oromucosal dose may be actually swallowed and processed through the GI route (Itin, Barasch, Domb, & Hoffman, 2020; Itin, Domb, & Hoffman, 2019). This idea is supported by a study in which cannabis-based medicine extract (CBME, formulation similar to Sativex ®) administered oromucosally *vs*. oral ingestible resulted in similar pharmacokinetic parameters (Guy & Robson, 2004). In the next section we compare the bioavailability and pharmacokinetics of oral CBD administrations.

1.4. CBD Bioavailability and Pharmacokinetics

The oral mode of CBD administration comprises oromucosal and ingestible formulations. As previously discussed, the swallowed dose takes the following route through the body: intestinal absorption in the gut, passage through the gastrointestinal epithelium into lacteals and/or capillaries and then into lymphatic circulation or the portal vein respectively. Therefore, systemic concentration, which is measured in venous blood, comes after all the possible losses in the prior sites have occurred. The term bioavailability could be applied to both the rate and the extent of drug input into systemic circulation (Tozer & Rowland, 2006). In a more narrow interpretation, bioavailability is defined as a fraction of the administered dose that became systemically available in the circulation and to the tissues where its effect is exerted.

First-pass metabolism refers to modifications of the substance by the liver, specifically those that change the chemical composition and/or the structure of the substance and thus alter plasma concentrations of the active form and its expected effect at the target tissues. In the liver,

CBD undergoes oxidation by cytochrome p450 (CYP450) enzymatic activity, which first converts it to 7-hydroxy-cannabidiol (7-OH-CBD), and then to several other hydroxylated metabolites. Studies on drug-drug interactions identified three major isoforms of CYP450 that are responsible for the biotransformation of active cannabidiol: CYP3A4, CYP2C19, and CYP2C8/9, out of which the first two are the most important (Brown & Winterstein, 2019). After this phase I metabolism, CBD and its metabolites undergo phase II glucuronidation by uridine 5'-diphosphoglucuronosyltransferase enzymes (UGT1A7, UGT1A9, and UGT2B7), which make molecules more water soluble and thus render them for easier excretion, therefore also affecting the bioavailability of active CBD forms (Brown & Winterstein, 2019).

As described in section 1.2, the bioavailability of a drug can be estimated by comparing the pharmacokinetic parameters of intravenous injection (I.V.) versus oral administration of the same dose. Data for CBD bioavailability in humans is very limited despite intravenous formulations being available. Intravenous and intraperitoneal administrations of CBD were used in multiple animal studies, but in human studies oral administration is the most common, followed by smoking (usually in combination with THC) or vaping. Only a couple of older studies (Johansson et al., 1987; Ohlsson et al., 1986) compared I.V. administration versus smoking in humans. They estimated CBD bioavailability from smoking at 31% (Ohlsson et al., 1986). Oral bioavailability of CBD was estimated based mostly on animal studies and was reported to be as low as 13-19% (Mechoulam, Parker, & Gallily, 2002). The most recent review gave an even lower estimate, 6%, which is based on data pulled together from most published pharmacokinetic information on oral CBD administration in humans (Millar et al., 2020).

The bioavailability of ingestible CBD formulations can potentially be increased in several ways. The easiest and the most applicable way of increasing CBD bioavailability is to enhance

its absorption in the GI tract. Since CBD is a lipophilic substance, its absorption depends on the presence of other lipids in the gut and on micelle formation. Fat presence in the small intestine stimulates bile secretion, emulsification of lipids, formation of smaller micelles, and more rapid transit through the brush border of the intestinal epithelium. The physiological logistics of greater absorption of lipophilic substances in combination with lipids in the gut is obvious. Subsequently, multiple studies have confirmed that CBD consumed with food or in a fed state has much higher bioavailability compared to that consumed in a fasted state. The Stott et al. study compared the pharmacokinetics of a single oromucosal dose of CBD (10 mg) administered to 12 adult males in a fasted vs. fed state (C. G. Stott, L. White, S. Wright, D. Wilbraham, & G. W. Guy, 2013). Even though time to peak plasma concentration (T_{max}) was delayed for about 2-2.5 hours in a fed state, the highest concentration and overall dose exposure were much higher $(C_{max} = 3.66 \text{ ng/ml } vs. 1.15 \text{ ng/ml}, AUC_{0-t} = 20.21 \text{ h x ng/ml } vs. 4.53 \text{ h x ng/ml in a fed state } vs.$ fasted state respectively). As we can calculate from these numbers, a fed state increased CBD bioavailability about 3.5 - 4.5 times. Taylor et al. conducted a similar experiment, but with a significantly higher single dose of CBD oral solution (1500 mg) in 12 adult subjects, where CBD was administered following a high-fat breakfast vs. fasting state (Taylor et al., 2018). In this study, the T_{max} was not affected by the fed state, but the rest of the PK parameters were similarly much higher ($C_{max} = 1628 \text{ ng/ml} \text{ vs. } 335.4 \text{ ng/ml}$, AUC_{0-t} = 8347 h x ng/ml vs. 1987 h x ng/ml in the fed state and the fasted state respectively). As stated by the authors, this constitutes about four- to fivefold increase in CBD bioavailability in a fed state. Crockett et al. compared the effect of four different meal compositions on CBD bioavailability (high-fat/calorie meal, lowfat/calorie meal, whole milk, and alcohol) relative to fasting state in healthy adults (about 15 subjects per group) consuming a single dose of Epidiolex® (750 mg) (Crockett, Critchley, Tayo,

Berwaerts, & Morrison, 2020). Compared to the fasting state, CBD and its metabolite exposures increased most with a high-fat/calorie meal, followed by a low-fat/calorie meal, whole milk, and to a lesser extent, alcohol. Another comparative study of a fed *vs*. fasted state with 99% pure CBD administration in an oral capsule was targeted specifically towards patients with refractory epilepsy (Birnbaum et al., 2019). Based on results, the authors recommended that CBD medications should be taken with a meal, and preferably a high-fat meal, to increase CBD bioavailability. Patients on a ketogenic diet (which is often used as means to control epileptic seizures) may have higher and more consistent bioavailability of CBD, as the fat and caloric content of their diet is better controlled (Birnbaum et al., 2019).

After absorption in the gut, the liver is the next place where CBD is processed. As discussed above, in phase I metabolism, CBD is modified by CYP450 enzymes, which are implicated in the primary metabolism and biotransformation of the majority of therapeutic agents and xenobiotics (Zanger & Schwab, 2013). Therefore, concurrent administration of drugs that are substrates for the same CYP450 enzymes creates a sort of "competition" for the active sites, and therefore, concurrently administered drugs exhibit higher bioavailability of their original forms since less of each is modified in phase I metabolism. Several studies confirmed higher CBD availability when it was administered parallel with other drugs. Dronabinol (synthetic THC) slightly increased the bioavailability of co-administered CBD (Eichler et al., 2012). In another study, subjects received four sprays of THC/CBD (10.8/10 mg) alongside single doses of the CYP3A and CYP2C19 inducer rifampicin (600 mg), the CYP3A inhibitor ketoconazole (400 mg) or the CYP2C19 inhibitor omeprazole (40 mg) (C. Stott, L. White, S. Wright, D. Wilbraham, & G. Guy, 2013). As expected, rifampicin reduced C_{max} and the AUC of THC/CBD, and ketoconazole increased these PK parameters, while omeprazole didn't have any significant

effect on THC/CBD plasma concentrations (possibly because of the low dose). A meta-analysis of four large randomized controlled trials (two in Lennox-Gastaut syndrome patients, and two in Dravet syndrome patients) that evaluated efficacy of cannabidiol with and without concomitant clobazam administration showed a synergistic effect associated with the combination of agents (Devinsky et al., 2020). A recent review lists several other studies of CBD interaction with coadministered drugs: tacrolimus, warfarin, and valprorate (Millar et al., 2020). Hepatic impairment, which can be associated with lower CYP450 enzymatic activity, also increases CBD bioavailability, and the severity of impairment positively correlates with C_{max} and AUC parameters compared to subjects with normal hepatic function (Taylor, Crockett, Tayo, & Morrison, 2019). Nevertheless, even in healthy individuals, and without concurrent drug administration, CBD bioavailability shows very high inter-subject variability, which can be attributed to variability in CYP450 enzymatic activity. In consideration, suppression of CYP450 by means of drugs or due to hepatic impairment is not a viable option for enhancing CBD bioavailability for general consumers. Interestingly, there are natural constituents of a healthy human diet that can compete with CBD in their affinity for CYP450, and thus divert its enzymatic activity from metabolizing CBD and subsequently increase its bioavailability. Grapefruit inhibits the CYP3A metabolism of cannabidiol, which increases its plasma concentration ("PubChem compound summary for CID 644019, Cannabidiol.," 2021). Therefore, taking CBD with a meal rich in fats and with grapefruit juice seems like the most efficient way to maximize exposure and get the maximum absorbed amount out of whatever CBD dose is consumed.

The most pharmaceutically viable ways of increasing CBD bioavailability can be based on developing novel medical products. The current CBD solid-state medications in pre-clinical

or early clinical stages include but are not limited to the following: self-emulsifying drug delivery systems, improved crystal formulations, and cocrystals (Millar et al., 2020). Self-emulsifying drug delivery systems (SEDDS) use a mixture of oils, surfactants, and solvents, which, upon coming into contact with the aqueous environment in the gut, get dispersed into micro and nano sized droplets (Knaub et al., 2019). New gelatin matrix-based pellets technology is also based on a self-emulsifying delivery system containing highly purified CBD embedded in seamless gelatin matrix beadlets (Atsmon, Cherniakov, et al., 2018). Improved crystal formulations create crystalline CBD that has a melting point significantly lower than regular CBD crystals, and thus may have increased aqueous solubility. Cocrystal technology combines CBD crystals with other crystallized plant-derived compounds, which may work synergistically with CBD to enhance desired outcomes. Other ways of improving CBD bioavailability are also currently under development (Millar et al., 2020).

Understanding the pharmacokinetics of a drug is essential to understanding its pharmacodynamics, and for maximizing therapeutic effects and minimizing adverse effects. The pharmacokinetics of cannabidiol in humans was studied in different subject populations, at different doses and formulations, heated or unheated, with or without concurrent drug administration, in a fasted or fed state, and with or without analysis of adverse effects and/or psychological states. To date, 38 studies can be identified that recorded the pharmacokinetics of CBD administration in human subjects, with a minimum of two reported PK parameters (C_{max} and T_{max}) and a maximum of nine PK parameters (T_{max}, C_{max}, AUC_{0-t}, AUC_{0-inf}, t_{/2}, K_e, CL/F, V/F, and K_a). The range of administration mode is quite wide: intravenous injections, smoking cigarettes, aerosol, nebulizer, vaporizer, oromucosal spray (sublingual, buccal, oropharyngeal), oral capsules, oral fluid, oral solution, oral capsules with piperine pro-nanolipospheres, self-

emulsifying drug delivery system soft gel capsules, CBD encapsulating wafer matrix, cannabis containing brownies, and more. There is also a difference between the study subjects: habitual cannabis users vs. non-users, patients with epilepsy, patients with hepatic or renal impairment, children, and adults (either exclusively males or mixed male/female groups). The number of subjects was highly variable across the studies and ranged from 5 (Ohlsson, 1986) to 60 (Sellers, 2013). The number of research participants influences the statistical power, and therefore some studies may be insufficiently powered to report/detect significant observations. In some studies, PK data were recorded in unconventional units: C_{max} in [(ng/ml)/mg] or [pmol/ml] instead of the usual [ng/ml]. A single dose of CBD ranged from 5.4 mg to 6000 mg, and in some studies, it was concurrently administered with THC at various CBD/THC ratios. Though the sources of CBD extract were not always clearly identified in the studies, most commonly natural CBD extracts were used, and one study used synthetic CBD analog (Izgelov et al., 2020). The analyzed body fluids included whole blood, plasma, serum, and oral fluids (saliva). The many confounding elements in multiple study protocols make it difficult to compare the primary PK outcomes across studies. In our study, a single CBD dose was administered as an ingestible, in a fasted state, to healthy adults (males and females) in order to evaluate dose-exposure relationship of different CBD formulations. Accordingly, I narrowed the list of 38 down to 14 studies in which a single dose of CBD was administered as an ingestible, in a fasted state, and at least three PK parameters were recorded (C_{max}, T_{max}, and AUC_{0-t}) (with one exception). These studies give us 27 sets of pharmacokinetic data that have the greatest relevance to our study and are suitable for dose-exposure analysis (Table 1.1): studies published in 2005 – 2018 were listed in previously published review (Millar et al., 2018); I augmented their list with PK information published in 2019 -2020. All studies that used a single CBD dose of 200 mg or higher tested the products of

GW Pharmaceuticals: Epidiolex®, oral solution or oral capsules. The differences in dosage are significant between the studies; the rows in Table 1.1 are arranged from minimal to maximal single CBD dose.

	Formulation, Administration,	Tmar	C_{max}	AUC _{0-t}
Study	CBD Single Dose (mg)	(hr)	(ng/m	(hr x
	CDD Shigle Dose (hig)	(111)	L)	ng/mL)
(Nadulski, Pragst, et al.,	Oral capsule (CBD+THC) 5.4 mg	0.99	0.93	4.35
2005)				
(Nadulski, Sporkert, et al.,	Oral capsule (CBD+THC) 5.4 mg	1.0	0.95	
2005)				
(Guy & Robson, 2004)	GW oral capsule (CBD+THC) 10	1.27	2.47	5.76
	mg			
(Cherniakov et al., 2017)	Oral capsule (CBD+THC) 10 mg	1	2.1	6.9
(Atsmon, Heffetz, Deutsch,	PTL101* CBD oral capsule 10 mg	3	3.22	9.64
Deutsch, & Sacks, 2018)				
(Atsmon, Cherniakov, et al.,	PTL401*(CBD+THC) oral capsule	1.25	2.94	9.85
2018)	10 mg			
(Knaub et al., 2019)	Oral capsule MCT-CBD** 25 mg	3.0	3.05	9.51
(Hobbs et al., 2020)	Caliper CBD water soluble 30 mg	0.9	2.82	6.80
(Hobbs et al., 2020)	Caliper CBD lipid soluble 30 mg	1.5	0.65	1.51
(Atsmon, Heffetz, et al.,	PTL101 CBD oral capsule 100 mg	3.5	47.44	150
2018)				
(Taylor et al., 2019)	(Epidiolex®) 200 mg	2.3	148.0	449
(Tayo, Taylor, Sahebkar, &	(Epidiolex®) 200 mg	2.5	200.0	671
Morrison, 2020)				
(Tayo et al., 2020)	(Epidiolex®) 200 mg	2.0	172.0	530
(Tayo et al., 2020)	(Epidiolex®) 200 mg	2.5	155.0	532
(Tayo et al., 2020)	(Epidiolex®) 200 mg	2.5	153.0	464

Table 1.1. Pharmacokinetic parameters for oral CBD administration in comparable studies.

(Manini et al., 2015)	GW oral CBD capsule 400 mg	3	181.2	704
(Manini et al., 2015)	GW oral CBD capsule 400 mg	1.5	114.2	482
(Crockett et al., 2020)	(Epidiolex®) 750 mg	4.0	187.0	1077
(Manini et al., 2015)	GW oral CBD capsule 800 mg	3	221.1	867
(Manini et al., 2015)	GW oral CBD capsule 800 mg	4	157.1	722
(Taylor et al., 2018)	GW oral solution 1500 mg	4	292.4	1517
(Taylor et al., 2018)	GW oral solution 1500 mg	3.5	335.4	1987
(Schoedel et al., 2018)	(Epidiolex®) 1500 mg	6.13	524.5	2650
(Taylor et al., 2018)	GW oral solution 3000 mg	5	533.0	2669
(Taylor et al., 2018)	GW oral solution 4500 mg	5	722.1	3215
(Schoedel et al., 2018)	(Epidiolex®) 4500 mg	4.07	426.9	2339
(Taylor et al., 2018)	GW oral solution 6000 mg	5	782	3696

* PTL- gelatin matrix pellets technology-based formulation; ** MCT-CBD – medium-chain triglycerides.

In an attempt to evaluate dose-exposure relationship, I calculated the Pearson correlation coefficients for dose *vs*. three PK parameters. There are only nine studies that used a low single oral CBD dose between 5.4 mg and 30 mg, and the PK data are highly variable. Dose-exposure response is inconsistent for low doses. No correlation is observed between the CBD dose and C_{max} , T_{max} and AUC_{0-1} at low dose administration (Fig. 1.4 – 1.6; the correlation, r, values for each parameter are presented under the figures), which could be reflective of insufficient number of observations. If all the doses (5.4 to 6000 mg) are included in calculations, the results are more consistent, and positive linear correlation is observed between the dose and each of the PK parameters. Therefore, data are very limited on ingestible low CBD doses (both oral capsules and oral solution), and currently do not allow for the development of normative PK values for a single oral dose under 100 mg. Since most of the CBD products available without prescription contain 5 to 30 mg of CBD per serving, more studies should be warranted to explore dose – exposure relationship at these doses.



Figure 1.4. C_{max} values plotted against administered single oral CBD dose. r = 0.913 (p-value <0.01) for dose 5.4 to 6000 mg; r = 0.110 (p-value = 0.77) for dose 5.4 to 30 mg. Based on data presented in Table 1: pooled from pharmacokinetic studies published in 2004 – 2020.



Figure 1.5. T_{max} values plotted against administered single oral CBD dose. r = 0.689 (p-value <0.01) for dose 5.4 to 6000 mg; r = 0.189 (p-value = 0.63) for dose 5.4 to 30 mg. Based on data presented in Table 1: pooled from pharmacokinetic studies published in 2004 – 2020.



Figure 1.6. AUC_{0-t} values plotted against administered single oral CBD dose. r = 0.922 (p-value <0.01) for dose 5.4 to 6000 mg; r = -0.488 (p-value = 0.22) for dose 5.4 to 30 mg. Based on data presented in Table 1: pooled from pharmacokinetic studies published in 2004 – 2020.

This dose – exposure analysis serves as a future rationale for our study of comparing pharmacokinetics of several CBD formulation since development of formulations that provide higher consistency of dose – exposure response could possibly secure better therapeutic effect of CBD products offered over-the-counter and in the free market.

A much more sophisticated approach in evaluating the dose-exposure relationship and bioavailability of oral CBD administration was employed in a recent study: to describe CBD disposition and absorption kinetics the authors used a three-compartment model with a Weibull or zero-order absorption model (Lim, Sharan, & Woo, 2020). The algorithms were quite complex and based on computer modeling, but the assessed PK data were the same: CBD dose, C_{max}, T_{max}, and AUC. The authors extracted pharmacokinetic data from 15 published studies where CBD was administered orally. The inclusion criteria were as follows: CBD single-dose 5–6000 mg, oral application (Epidiolex®, Sativex®, or oral capsule), healthy adults, either fed or

fasted state. These PK data of oral administration were compared to the Ohlsson's et al. older data of intravenous administration, which is the only CBD PK data of I.V. administration available up to date (Ohlsson et al., 1986). The analysis reveals that the CBD dose, dosage form, and feeding status affect CBD bioavailability and rate of absorption by various degrees. For oral capsule formulations, variability in the bioavailability ranged between 3.4% and 11.1%, but was not significantly associated with food. On the contrary, the bioavailability of oromucosal spray was significantly increased by the presence of food. The bioavailability of oral capsule (5.6%) and fed-state oromucosal spray (6.2%) were similar, but it was much lower in fasted-state oromucosal spray (0.9%). CBD exposures increased less than proportionally with doses of 750 mg or greater. The lowest administered CBD oral solution dose of 750 mg had 16.3% bioavailability, whereas the highest dose of 6000 mg had 3.7% bioavailability.



Figure 1.7. Cannabidiol bioavailability (F) and dose relationship for oral solution (blue), oral capsule (green), fed-state oromucosal spray/drop (brown), and fasted-state oromucosal spray/drop (purple). FT represents the two oral capsule studies conducted under fasting conditions. The dashed line denotes the predicted F across the dose range for oral solution. (Lim et al., "Model-Based Analysis of Cannabidiol Dose-Exposure Relationship and Bioavailability", *Pharmacotherapy*, 2020)

The PK analysis with oral solution suggests that CBD absorption saturates at around 4000 mg, where the amount absorbed into the body approaches its plateau. Fig. 1.7 presents the bioavailability % vs. dose graph modeled in the Lim et al. study (2020). Though not extensively discussed by the authors, in my view, the figure shows the "best value" for exposure at around a 750-1000 mg CBD dose, where the absorbed amount per unit of CBD administered is the highest. At lower doses (under 20 mg) bioavailability is higher or similar to super-high doses (above 3000 mg), but the amount of active CBD that reaches systemic circulation and target tissues at low dose administrations may be too low to exert any significant physiologic effects. At super-high doses, even though the blood concentration of CBD may be greater than at 750-1000 mg dose, also a much greater portion of administered CBD is unabsorbed and eliminated with feces. The limitations of the Lim et al. study listed by the authors addressed high intersubject variability that was impossible to evaluate in their model-based analysis due to the lack of individual subject data: sex, body weight, etc. Possibly, future studies may be structured in a way that allows to avoid this potential pitfall.

1.5. Mode of Action and Molecular Targets of Cannabidiol

The action of external chemical compounds introduced into the mammalian body can be based on their mimicking of internally produced chemical compounds that have their mode of action established through binding to certain receptors and activating specific pathways. The action of external cannabinoids is partially based on the presence of an endocannabinoid system, which is described as being composed of three major constituents: lipid signaling ligands, their G-protein coupled receptors, and the enzymes involved in ligand generation and metabolism (Silvestri, Ligresti, & Di Marzo, 2011). The two major endocannabinoids are anandamide (AEA), also known as N-arachidonoylethanolamine, and 2-arachidonoylglycerol (2-AG). The other, less commonly measured, plasma endocannabinoids are oleoylethanolamine (OEA) and palmitoylethanolamine (PEA) (Jadoon, Tan, & O'Sullivan, 2017). The best studied receptors are CB1 and CB2, but some other receptors may also be a part of the endocannabinoid system. CB1 receptors are found throughout the body but mainly present in the central nervous system (CNS): the brain and spinal cord. CB2 receptors are also widely distributed and can be found in the CNS on basal nuclei, the hippocampus, microglia and activated astrocytes; in the peripheral nervous system (PNS); and on the immune cells, spleen, liver, and pancreas (Cather & Cather, 2020; Millan-Guerrero & Isais-Millan, 2019). Endocannabinoids are retrograde messengers derived from post-synaptic terminals; they bind to pre-synaptic cannabinoid receptors to modulate the effect of the neurotransmitter. Through CB1 receptors in the CNS, the endocannabinoid system modulates multiple aspects of central neural activities and disorders, including appetite, learning and memory, anxiety, depression, schizophrenia, multiple sclerosis, neurodegeneration, epilepsy, and addiction. Through peripheral CB2 receptors, the endocannabinoid system modulates pain, energy metabolism, cardiovascular and reproductive functions, inflammation, glaucoma, cancer, disorders of the liver, and musculoskeletal disorders (Zou & Kumar, 2018). External cannabinoids (CBD, THC, etc.), either directly by binding endocannabinoid receptors, or indirectly by upregulating or downregulating the internal endocannabinoid system, can to some extent affect all or some of the above listed physiological and pathological states.

It is well established that CBD has a very low affinity for CB1 and CB2 endocannabinoid receptors and cannot directly bind them. This explains the non-psychoactive nature of CBD when compared to THC, which has a very high affinity for CB1 and CB2. Nevertheless, even though CBD cannot directly bind CB-type receptors, there is evidence of its indirect agonism at these receptors. It can either increase CB1/CB2 constitutional activity or increase

endocannabinoid tone. The latter is accomplished by either increasing the levels of 2-AG or by inhibiting hydrolysis of AEA by fatty acid amide hydrolase (Cather & Cather, 2020; Leweke et al., 2012). Also, higher affinity of some CBD metabolites rather than CBD itself for CB-type receptors has been reported (Li et al., 2020). In addition, CBD itself and its metabolites may be interacting with some other less common and not well-understood receptors of the endocannabinoid system, or receptors that are not considered part of the endocannabinoid system but, nevertheless, participate to some extent in endocannabinoid activity (Li et al., 2020).

One example of such overlap is a group of ion channels known as "Transient Receptor Potential" (TRP) channels that are expressed throughout the body. The most extensively studied is the TRPV family: TRPV1, TRPV2, etc. They exhibit nonselective permeability to monovalent and divalent cations (Na⁺, Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺), and their activation in neurons transduces chemical and physical stimuli from the periphery to the brain. TRPV1, also known as the capsaicin receptor, or vanilloid receptor 1, can be activated by heat, capsaicin, and, among other substances, by endocannabinoid ligand anandamide (AEA). CBD and one of its natural analogs have been shown to activate TRPV1 and TRPV2, which leads to desensitization of the neurons and possible reduction of sensory transmission (Iannotti et al., 2014; Ibeas Bih et al., 2015; Zou & Kumar, 2018). The TRP channels are involved in perception of temperature and thermal pain, modulation of noxious stimuli, and possibly involved in several biological functions, such as cell proliferation. It is hypothesized that through interaction with TRPV1 and/or TRPV2 receptors, CBD partially exerts its analgesic and anti-cancer effects (Pellati et al., 2018).

The effect of external cannabinoids in the body is not limited to interaction with the endocannabinoid system, but rather involves multitudes of other receptors and pathways that are located in almost all the systems including the nervous system, cardiovascular, gastrointestinal,

muscle, and also in adipose tissue. In fact, more than 65 discrete molecular targets have been reported in the literature for CBD and listed in a very thorough review (Fig. 1.8) (Ibeas Bih et al., 2015). Using information from the above mentioned review and some other sources I will examine the most plausible targets of CBD and the effects exerted on specific systems, organs, and tissues.





CBD can elicit effects within the central nervous system and within the cardiovascular system through its interactions with adenosine receptors A1 and A2, which have been implicated in regulating coronary blood flow and oxygen consumption by cardiac muscle and the brain. Also, CBD activation of A2 receptor-mediated signaling cascades have been reported to exert anti-inflammatory effects (Mecha et al., 2013). The other route of cannabidiol's anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective action is through the glycine receptors in the spinal cord. The effect of CBD on alpha-1 and alpha-1-beta glycine receptors (α 1 and α 1 β GlyR) that play a role in development of chronic pain following inflammation or nerve injury has been reported first (Ahrens et al., 2009), with addition of alpha-3 glycine receptor (α 3 GlyR) also as a CBD target in the following studies (Xiong et al., 2012). In the brain, opioid receptors that bind opioids in the

cerebral cortex are a major part of the CNS's pain control system. In one study, CBD acted as an allosteric modulator of two opioid receptor isoforms (µ and δ ORs) (Kathmann, Flau, Redmer, Trankle, & Schlicker, 2006), and thus its analgesic effect may be partially attributed to opioid system modulation. However, the most widespread effect of CBD in the nervous system might come through its agonism at 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) serotonin receptors. 5-HT receptors, or serotonin receptors, are a group of G protein-coupled receptors widely distributed in the central and peripheral nervous systems, which have both excitatory and inhibitory effects. They modulate a variety of neurological and physiological functions, including, but not limited to, aggression, anxiety, appetite, cognition, learning, memory, mood, nausea, sleep, and thermoregulation. In a series of animal studies, CBD acted as an anti-stress and anti-panic agent attenuating behavioral and cardiovascular responses in acute stressful settings through activation of 5-HT1A receptors in rats (Gomes et al., 2013; Resstel et al., 2009; Soares Vde et al., 2010). In a couple of experiments with hippocampus preparations/slices, CBD showed positive interaction with the non-endocannabinoid G-protein-coupled receptor 55 (orphan GPCR 55) (Sylantyev, Jensen, Ross, & Rusakov, 2013), and with the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAchR) (Mahgoub et al., 2013). Even though the significance of these interactions has not been evaluated in terms of *in-vivo* neural activity, the paramount role of the hippocampus in memory and learning, and its central position in the circuitry of the limbic system, suggests some possible routes of cannabidiol's influence in the cerebral cortex.

Outside of the nervous system, CBD targets have been studied in the cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, musculoskeletal, urinary, and reproductive systems, and in adipose tissue. Some anti-cancer effects of CBD are thought to be mediated through interaction with the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ) (Ramer et al., 2013). PPARs, also known as glitazone

receptors, are a group of nuclear receptor proteins that function as transcription factors regulating gene expression. PPARs play essential roles in the regulation of lipid and glucose metabolism, cellular differentiation and development, and tumorigenesis. Different subtypes of PPARs are widely expressed throughout the entire body; and specifically, PPAR γ subtype is expressed in the nervous system, heart and skeletal muscle, GI tract, kidney, pancreas, spleen, and adipose tissue. Effects of CBD - PPAR γ interactions have been reported in a number of studies (Esposito et al., 2011; O'Sullivan, Sun, Bennett, Randall, & Kendall, 2009). Even though only 15% of CBD targets are different types of receptors (Fig. 1.8), it is worthy of mention that these interactions are the best studied up to date in comparison with other CBD – target interactions.

The largest portion of CBD targets is represented by different types of enzymes. Nineteen investigations of the effect of CBD upon 32 specific enzyme targets have been reported (Ibeas et al., 2015), which accounts for 49% of the known molecular targets of CBD (Fig. 1.8). These are mostly enzymes of xenobiotic metabolism and enzymes involved in lipid metabolism. Almost all the studies of CBD – enzyme interactions were conducted *in vitro* and with very high, non-physiologic molar concentrations of CBD, and, therefore, the significance of these interactions *in vivo* in terms of metabolic effects is yet to be investigated. The rest of the CBD targets are allocated to ion channels (15%) and membrane transporters (20%) (Ibeas Bih et al., 2015).

So far, our review of molecular targets and the mode of action of cannabidiol considered both *in vitro* and *in vivo* research, partially in disregard of its connection to any available evidence of CBD pharmacological efficacy in treatment of specific diseases and disorders, or in terms of general health enhancement. The next section will address these issues.
1.6. Clinical Applications and Therapeutic Potential of Cannabidiol

As stated in section 1.3, two CBD containing pharmaceutical products are clinically approved and available by prescription. Sativex® is indicated for the treatment of spasticity and neuropathic pain in multiple sclerosis, and as an adjunctive analgesic for moderate to severe pain in advanced cancer. It is an oromucosal spray that is administered buccally about 4-8 times per day (up to 12 times maximum). Each spray dose contains 2.7 mg THC and 2.5 mg CBD. Epidiolex® is prescribed for epileptic seizures, mostly associated with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome (LGS) and Dravet syndrome (DS). The dosage depends on the severity of the seizures and the age of the patient. It ranges from 2.5 mg/kg twice daily up to a maximum of 10 mg/kg twice daily (Brown & Winterstein, 2019). This means that clinical application of Epidiolex® is limited to much smaller doses than were used in some studies (Table 1.1). A 60 kg patient can receive a daily maximal dose of 1400 mg in two installments, while healthy subjects in the studies (Taylor et al., 2018) received up to a 6000 mg single dose of Epidiolex[®]. The major consideration here is possible drug-drug interactions, since LGS and DS patients are also commonly using other anti-epileptic drugs. The research that preceded approval of these two drugs was quite extensive and is omitted in our literature review. The main issue that must be addressed here is the safety and tolerability of CBD. At lower doses of oral administration, CBD was reported to be well tolerated and caused no observable adverse events (AE) (Guy & Flint, 2004; Sellers et al., 2013; C. G. Stott et al., 2013) or mild AE including somnolence, sedation and altered mood (Hosseini, McLachlan, & Lickliter, 2021). One study reported decreased appetite as an AE at oral CBD doses of 100 mg (Jadoon et al., 2016). At doses between 100 mg and 1500 mg, CBD was still well tolerated, but mild to moderate adverse effects were recorded in several studies (Bergamaschi, Queiroz, Zuardi, & Crippa, 2011; Crockett et al., 2020; Jadoon et al., 2017). The most comprehensive assessment of the safety and tolerability of CBD oral

administration in single or multiple doses between 750 mg and 6000 mg was undertaken by Taylor et al. (2018). The authors reported the following gastrointestinal disorders across all administered doses: diarrhea, abdominal discomfort, and nausea. Fewer AE were observed at doses of 750 mg and 1500 mg, while doses of 3000, 4500, and 6000 mg of CBD caused at least some of those AE in all subjects. The number of gastrointestinal AE was about the same across all three highest doses. The most common nervous system disorders resulting as side effects included somnolence, headache, and dizziness. The pattern was similar to the gastrointestinal AE with the number of cases increasing at higher doses. The other AE experienced by a limited number of subjects were flatulence, presyncope, fatigue, skin rash, and myalgia, all of which may or may not be attributed to CBD administration. The authors concluded that oral administration of CBD at doses up to 6000 mg was well tolerated, and the AE ranged from mild to moderate; no severe adverse events were observed at any doses.

For other therapeutic purposes, CBD has been marketed as a supplement and/or alternative medicine agent and is not regulated by FDA. A list of therapeutic applications of CBD, its natural and synthetic analogs, and their metabolites keeps expanding and currently includes, but is not limited to the following: anti-inflammatory (Fitzpatrick et al., 2020; Hobbs et al., 2020; Liu, Fowler, & Dalgleish, 2010; Muthumalage & Rahman, 2019), analgesic (Linher-Melville et al., 2020; Mlost, Bryk, & Starowicz, 2020), antibacterial (Appendino et al., 2008), anti-coagulant/anti-thrombotic (Coetzee, Levendal, van de Venter, & Frost, 2007), hypnotic/ sleep-inducing (Carlini & Cunha, 1981; Chagas et al., 2013; Monti, 1977), anti-anxiety/antidepressant and anti-psychotic (Campos, Fogaca, Sonego, & Guimaraes, 2016), antioxidant (Hampson et al., 2000; Pellati et al., 2018), anti-nausea/anti-emetic (Rock et al., 2020), neuroprotective (Hampson et al., 2000; Karl, Garner, & Cheng, 2017), and anti-rheumatoid

(Lowin, Schneider, & Pongratz, 2019). The inhibitory effect of CBD on the development and spread of different cancers has been studied in human breast cancer cells (Murase et al., 2014), prostate carcinoma cells (De Petrocellis et al., 2013), and colon adenocarcinoma cells (Borrelli et al., 2014). CBD, its analogs, and metabolites acted via apoptotic mechanisms (De Petrocellis et al., 2013), by inhibiting cancer-induced inflammation (Pellati et al., 2018), and by stimulating the production of reactive oxygen species and reducing cancer cell growth (Borrelli et al., 2014).

The best studied in both animal models and human trials are anti-inflammatory properties of CBD. In a review that summarized numerous murine studies, CBD was reported to reduce inflammation in nephropathy, pancreatitis, Alzheimer's disease-related neuroinflammation, liver A-hepatitis, edema and hyperalgesia, inflammatory bowel disease, colitis, pneumococcal meningitis, hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury, encephalitis, autoimmune encephalomyelitis, inflammatory lung diseases, and other conditions (Burstein, 2015). In human studies, in vitro, in vivo, as well as in clinical trials, the anti-inflammatory properties of cannabidiol have been investigated in relation to immune cells (monocytes and macrophages) (Fitzpatrick et al., 2020; Hobbs et al., 2020; Muthumalage & Rahman, 2019), gastrointestinal diseases (Couch et al., 2019), airway inflammation and fibrosis in asthma and other lung diseases (Muthumalage & Rahman, 2019; Vuolo et al., 2019), rheumatoid arthritis (Lowin et al., 2019), HIV (Costiniuk & Jenabian, 2019), Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases (Karl et al., 2017; Pellati et al., 2018), and inflammation of the sebaceous glands (acne) (Olah et al., 2016). This covers just a small portion of the recent publications. The molecular mechanisms of the anti-inflammatory effect of CBD in different systems, organs, and tissues have been extensively studied. In most general terms, acting through different receptors and pathways, CBD can cause a reduction in proinflammatory cytokines (IL-2, TNF-a, IFN-c, IL-6, IL-12, IL-17, MCP-1, eotaxin-1, etc.) and

affect gene expression. Anti-inflammatory effect of CBD may be mediated by cannabinoid receptors (CBr), GPR55 receptors, adenosine A2A receptors, TRPV1 receptors, and CB2/5HT heterodimerization. In some studies, CBD and its metabolite cannabidiol dimethylheptyl (CBD-DMH) showed the ability to modulate production of reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide affecting production of TNF- α .(Burstein, 2015; Pellati et al., 2018). Overall, complete mechanisms of CBD anti-inflammatory actions are not elucidated yet.

Currently, most diseases and disorders (and even some non-disease states, like excessive weight, stress, and post-exercise recovery) are inevitably accompanied by inflammation in specific organs/tissues that are relevant to a particular condition. Many therapeutic effects of cannabidiol in multiple disorders can be at least partially attributed to its anti-inflammatory properties. Whether inflammation is acute or chronic, high- or low-grade, local or systemic, expressed in a patient's signs and symptoms or almost imperceptible, its effects cannot be underestimated in terms of a holistic approach to an organism. Therefore, as an anti-inflammatory agent, cannabidiol can possibly be used both in therapeutic applications for most human diseases and in general health maintenance.

1.7. Conclusion

Cannabidiol, a substance naturally produced by the *Cannabis* plants, has been a part of traditional medicine for thousands of years. In the last several decades, cannabidiol, its metabolites and synthetic analogs have been extensively studied in research laboratories all around the world. Currently, standardized CBD medications are approved for use in the treatment of epileptic seizures, spasticity, and neuropathic pain in multiple sclerosis, and as an analgesic for pain in advanced cancer. But this is just the tip of the iceberg. Cannabidiol has

tremendous therapeutic potential in almost all aspects of human health support. Current rapidly growing interest in its properties and effects is suggestive of cannabidiol possible extensive and successful use in medicine and in holistic health maintenance for hundreds of years to come.

Chapter 2. INTRODUCTION TO CANNABIDIOL STUDY

Cannabidiol has been purported to have a variety of beneficial physiological effects including but not limited to anti-inflammatory, analgesic, antibacterial, anti-coagulant/antithrombotic, hypnotic/sleep-inducing, anti-anxiety, anti-depressant, anti-psychotic, anti-oxidant, and neuroprotective (Appendino et al., 2008; Burstein, 2015; Campos et al., 2016; Carlini & Cunha, 1981; Chagas et al., 2013; Coetzee et al., 2007; Fitzpatrick et al., 2020; Hampson et al., 2000; Hobbs et al., 2020; Karl et al., 2017; Linher-Melville et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2010; Lowin et al., 2019; Mlost et al., 2020; Monti, 1977; Muthumalage & Rahman, 2019; Pellati et al., 2018; Rock et al., 2020). Subsequent to the legalization of marijuana in a majority of states, the popularity of different *Cannabis* components as therapeutic agents keeps growing among the general population, with the main focus on THC and CBD. The CBD industry is expanding quickly, its expansion matching that of the expanding market. Local and online markets for cannabidiol offer a very broad range of products at a very broad range of prices. The most widely offered CBD infused products are gummies, cookies, brownies, and drinks, including coffee and wine. There is also an option to add CBD cooking oil to homemade dishes. The CBD dose per serving for most products ranges from 5 mg to 30 mg. Of course, there are no listed limitations as to how many servings each consumer can eat, just recommendations, affordability, and personal preferences. A wide variety of CBD-containing edible and drinkable options combined with claims of numerous health benefits make these products quite appealing even for a skeptical consumer, and even in disregard of their cost.

Despite the enthusiasm of the CBD industry for all the health claims, the empirical evidence supporting favorable physiological responses at low CBD doses is inconsistent (Millan-Guerrero & Isais-Millan, 2019; VanDolah, Bauer, & Mauck, 2019), which is partially

influenced by CBD bioavailability. The bioavailability of oral CBD administrations has a very broad range of inter-individual variability, especially at lower doses of 5 to 30 mg, which are the most common per-serving doses of all the above listed marketed products, and at which the dose-exposure relationship is the most inconsistent and unpredictable. Differences in CBD formulations, co-administration with additional ingredients, preparation as a ready-made product *vs.* a powder to be mixed with liquid by the consumer before ingestion, personal preferences of taking CBD products in a fasting state *vs.* with a meal, CBD exposure to heat if used in home meal preparations – all can influence CBD bioavailability, and consequently alter the sought-after therapeutic effect.

One of the unexplored but potentially very important factors that influence CBD bioavailability is the body size and composition of the consumer. For example, lean mass is positively associated with total blood volume (Davy & Seals, 1994; Jones, Davy, DeSouza, van Pelt, & Seals, 1997). Thus, it is feasible that adults with a higher lean mass may demonstrate lower circulating CBD concentrations upon ingestion of the same dose under similar conditions as lower lean mass individuals on account of a larger blood volume in which to dilute the CBD. Alternatively, fat mass may influence CBD absorption as CBD is lipid soluble and can therefore potentially accumulate in adipose tissue in a manner similar to that previously reported for THC (Johansson, Noren, Sjovall, & Halldin, 1989; Wong et al., 2013). The purpose of the current study was to compare the pharmacokinetics of five oral CBD preparations standardized to 30 mg of CBD per single dose for a duration of 4 hours post-ingestion, and to examine the relationship between body composition and CBD pharmacokinetics.

One of the inconsistent physiological responses to CBD administration is the cardiovascular response (Sultan, Millar, England, & O'Sullivan, 2017). Some studies have

reported changes in heart rate and/or blood pressure following acute CBD consumption (Jadoon et al., 2017; Sultan, O'Sullivan, & England, 2020), while others have reported no measurable effect (de Faria et al., 2020; Hobbs et al., 2020). Changes in heart rate are almost always mediated by changes in the sympathovagal balance, this balance typically being described via heart rate variability. Heart rate variability refers to the inconsistency within the periods of time separating consecutive cardiac cycles. It is considered to have clinical relevance as it is able to predict future cardiac events and mortality (Hernandez-Vicente et al., 2020; Tsuji et al., 1996; Zbilut & Lawson, 1988). At the time of our study design, only one other study had examined the influence of CBD (specifically, a hemp-oil extract containing CBD) on heart rate variability in adult humans (Lopez et al., 2020), and this study reported on short-term CBD use (3 and 6 weeks) and not on acute response. Accordingly, an additional purpose of our study was to explore the acute influence of CBD ingestion on heart rate variability.

Chapter 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study Subjects

Healthy adult men and women were invited to participate. Inclusion criteria included an age of 18 years and over, body mass greater than 50 kg, absence of any known gastrointestinal or metabolic disease, and willingness to abstain from all products containing CBD for 3 days prior to each study visit. Exclusion criteria included pregnancy, breast-feeding, known food allergies, autoimmune disorders, celiac disease, inflammatory bowel disease, gastrointestinal cancers, and a history of diabetes. In addition, anyone who reported experiencing a previous adverse reaction to ingesting products containing *Cannabis sativa* L. were excluded from participation. A total of 16 subjects were pre-screened for their eligibility and enrolled in the study.

3.2 Study Design

A randomized, double-blind, repeated measures cross-over study design was employed. The institutional review board at Colorado State University reviewed and approved all procedures in accordance with the principles established in the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was provided by all participants prior to commencement of any study activity.

The screening visit consisted of a review of medical history and an assessment of body composition. Then, participants reported to the laboratory on five separate mornings in a crossover design. In light of the considerable variability in CBD absorption and the resulting pharmacokinetic parameters following CBD ingestion (Hobbs et al., 2020; Izgelov et al., 2020; Millar et al., 2018), a crossover design was employed in an attempt to minimize the influence of inter-individual variability. Each morning began with a collection of baseline blood sample, and determination of blood pressure and heart rate variability.

Participants then ingested one of five CBD preparations (described below). Venous blood was sampled over the next 4 hours. Heart rate variability was reassessed one hour after CBD ingestion. Heart rate and blood pressure were recorded over the next four hours.

3.4 Study Procedures

Participant screening was comprised of completion of a detailed medical history questionnaire and an assessment of body size and composition using a physician's digital scale and dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) technology (Hologic, Discovery W, QDR Series, Bedford, MA, USA). DEXA provides information on three compartments of body composition: fat mass, lean mass (or fat-free soft tissue), and bone mineral content. The three-compartment assessments are made for the whole body and also separate regional estimates of fat mass/fat-free mass are made for extremities and the trunk in accordance with a demarcation protocol. All measurements are analyzed by the software that gives estimate of body fat percent for the whole body and regional volumes. Body composition assessment implemented with DEXA technology ensures a high level of precision and is considered the most reliable method of evaluation for research purposes in clinical setting (Nana, Slater, Stewart, & Burke, 2015; Ryan et al., 2020).

The remaining five laboratory visits were identical in all aspects except for the CBD preparation that was administered. Participants reported to the laboratory on five separate mornings, each preceded by a 12-hour fast. The terminal elimination half-life of CBD administered to fasted humans varies between 6 and 32 h (Devinsky et al., 2020; Hosseini et al., 2021). To facilitate negligible baseline circulating CBD concentrations in each participant at the start of each study visit, every visit was preceded by a minimum 72 h abstention from all products containing CBD. The time of arrival was kept constant for each participant. On arrival,

participants were instrumented for measurement of heart rate (3-lead electrocardiogram (ECG)) and blood pressure (auscultation) using a physiological monitor (IntelliVue MP5 Patient Monitor, Philips Healthcare, Andover, MA, USA). Following this, a venous catheter was introduced into an antecubital vein.

Heart rate variability was determined immediately prior to, and 60 min following CBD ingestion. During 11 min of paced-breathing (metronome: 6 breaths per minute) raw ECG signals were recorded using a personal computer and an analogue-to-digital convertor (WinDaq, Dataq Instruments Inc., Akron, OH, USA) (Paxton et al., 2011) and analyzed using commercially available software (Kubios HRV), as previously described (Tarvainen, Niskanen, Lipponen, Ranta-Aho, & Karjalainen, 2014; Tarvainen, Ranta-Aho, & Karjalainen, 2002). The first minute was considered habituation and was discarded from the analysis. Additional measurements of heart rate and blood pressure were made prior to, and 30, 60, 120, 180 and 240 minutes after CBD ingestion. All measurements and recordings were completed in a temperature-controlled (20–22 °C), dimly lit room. During the measurements and recordings, participants were situated on a medical bed, in a comfortable, semi-recumbent posture.

Venous blood (approximately 10 mL) was collected prior to, and 10, 20, 30, 45, 60, 120, 180, and 240 min after CBD ingestion. Blood was immediately transferred to chilled tubes containing ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA). Plasma aliquots (1 mL) were separated from each of the samples and stored at -70 °C for later analysis.

Then, 90 min following CBD ingestion, participants were provided with a standardized breakfast consisting of a bagel sandwich and a choice of a non-alcoholic beverage. The breakfast was different between participants but was constant throughout each individual's laboratory

visits (i.e., whatever a participant ate during the first visit, they ate for all of the subsequent visits).

3.5 Cannabidiol Preparations

Five different CBD preparations were provided by Caliper Foods (Commerce City, CO, USA). The investigators were supplied with exact instructions on how to administer each preparation to the subjects. Each of the preparations contained a standardized CBD dose of 30 mg. The characteristics of each of the preparations are described in Table 3.1. The CBD preparations differed in their solubility (i.e., water *vs.* lipid), the concentration of the CBD liquid or powder, and additional ingredients used in each specific formulation. All preparations were administered in 227 mL (8 oz) of water, chilled, and consumed within about 30 seconds of administration.

Code	Preparation	Composition & Administration
178	CBD Tincture Base	MCT oil droplet containing CBD isolate; administered in
		227 mL (8 oz) of water
203	CBD Powder in Water	CBD as powder, suspended in reverse osmosis water;
		administered in 227 mL (8 oz) of water
340	20% CBD Concentration	Reverse osmosis water, CBD, MCT oil, quillaja extract;
	Liquid	administered in 227 mL (8 oz) of water
472	5% CBD Concentration Powder	Water soluble CBD, sorbitol, modified food starch,
		natural flavors, MCT oil; administered in 227 mL (8 oz)
		of water
707	5% CBD Concentration Liquid	Reverse osmosis water, gum arabic, CBD, MCT oil,
		citric acid; administered in 227 mL (8 oz) of water

Table 3.1. Features of the cannabidiol (CBD) preparations.

All preparations standardized to 30 mg of CBD. MCT: Medium Chain Triglyceride

3.6 Plasma Cannabidiol Analysis

Reagents and supplies: CBD and CBD-D3 were purchased from Cerilliant (Round Rock, TX, USA). Water and acetonitrile (LC-MS grade) were obtained from Millipore (Burlington, MA, USA) and formic acid (LC-MS-grade) from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Bond Elut dSPE Universal Sorbent was purchased from Agilent Technologies (Santa Clara, CA, USA). Chromatography was performed with a Kinetex Phenyl Hexyl column (3.0×50 mm, 2.6 µm) purchased from Phenomenex Inc. (Torrance, CA, USA).

Plasma samples were prepared for LC-MS/MS analysis by protein precipitation and dispersive solid phase extraction. In total, 200 μ L of sample was mixed with 400 μ L of ice-cold acetonitrile containing 20 ng/mL CBD-D3 in a microcentrifuge tube and vortexed for 30 s to precipitate proteins. Next, 200 mg of dSPE sorbent was added, vortexed for 30 s, and centrifuged for at 14,000 rpm for 5 min. Sample supernatants were then transferred to an autosampler vial for LC-MS/MS analysis.

Samples were analyzed with an Agilent 1290 UHPLC coupled to an Agilent 6460 triple quadruple mass spectrometer equipped with an Agilent Jet Stream electrospray ionization source (Agilent, Santa Clara, CA, USA). Cannabinoids were first chromatographically separated on a Phenomenex Phenyl Hexyl column (3.0×50 mm, 2.6μ m) held at 40 °C. A sample volume of 10 μ L was injected and a mixture of water with 0.1% formic acid (A) and acetonitrile with 0.1% formic acid (B) at a flow rate of 0.4 mL/min. The gradient elution used was 40% B for 0.5 min, increasing to 100% B at 2 min, and held at 100% B for 1.5 min. The ionization source conditions used were as follows: positive polarity, nebulizer 45 psi; gas flow of 10 L/min at 300 °C; sheath gas flow of 12 L/min at 375 °C. The ion transitions monitored for CBD were $315.2 \rightarrow 193.1/123$

m/z and $318.2 \rightarrow 196.1/123.1$ m/z for CBD-D3. CBD was confirmed by retention time and the product ion ratio correlation between the sample peaks and corresponding standards (±20%). The limit of detection and limit of quantitation for CBD in this analysis was 0.1 ng/mL and 0.25 ng/mL, respectively. The data collection and processing were performed by using Agilent MassHunter Quantitative software (v.B.08.01). Quantitative analysis was performed with linear regression using a 6-point calibration curves from 0.25 ng/mL to 50 ng/mL.

3.7. Pharmacokinetic Analysis

Pharmacokinetic analysis of the circulating concentrations of CBD for each of the preparations was completed using dedicated software (Phoenix WinNonlin v8.2, Certara, NJ, USA). Values below the limit of quantitation were classified as "missing". Areas under the CBD concentration curves were calculated using the trapezoidal method.

3.8. Statistical Analysis

All data, unless otherwise stated, are expressed as mean and standard deviation. Statistical calculations were performed using dedicated software (Prism v8.4.3, GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). Differences in the pharmacokinetic properties between the CBD preparations were examined using one-way analysis of variance mixed-effect models with Tukey tests employed to further explore identified main effects. Similarly, differences in the characteristics describing heart rate variability before/after CBD ingestion were also examined using one-way analysis of variance mixed-effect models, and Tukey test when appropriate. Relations between CBD pharmacokinetic parameters and body size and composition values were explored using Pearson correlations, and further examined with forward stepwise regression when pharmacokinetics parameters were correlated with multiple body composition variables

(SigmaStat 3.0, Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA, USA). The level of statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. The boxplots were constructed using "R" free-domain statistical software (R x64 4.0.2).

Chapter 4. RESULTS

4.1 Subject Characteristics

The progress of all participants throughout the trial (from screening and enrollment through to completion) is presented in Figure 4.1. A total of 16 participants were enrolled in the study. Due to repeated scheduling difficulties, one participant was removed from the study and replaced with a new recruit; a total of 15 participants completed all procedures. Selected physiological characteristics are presented in Table 4.1. The demographics of the subjects and their baseline physiological characteristics are typical of a broad range of adults that are free from overt cardio-metabolic disease.



Figure 4.1. Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) flow diagram.

Characteristic	Mean ± SD	Range
Sex (M/F)	9/6	-
Age (years)	29 ± 11	21 - 62
Height (cm)	174 ± 9	155 – 191
Body Mass (kg)	75.5 ± 13.8	58.6 - 100.1
Body Mass Index (kg/m ²)	24.6 ± 3.5	18.8 - 31.4
Fat Mass (kg)	19.4 ± 4.8	12.0 - 30.1
Body Fat (%)	26.2 ± 6.6	18.0 - 40.7
Lean Mass (kg)	53.7 ± 12.3	33.3 - 70.8
Bone Mineral Content (kg)	2.4 ± 0.4	1.6 – 2.9

Table 4.1. Selected physiological characteristics of study participants.

4.2 Pharmacokinetics of Plasma CBD Concentrations

Concentration of CBD in all baseline plasma samples for all preparations and all participants was below the limit of quantitation. Each ingested CBD preparation contained a standardized CBD dose of 30 mg. Circulating concentrations of CBD and the calculated pharmacokinetic parameters are presented in Figure 4.2 and Table 4.2, respectively. Plasma CBD concentrations rose rapidly for the 707 preparation, reaching peak concentration in 42 minutes (0.7 hours) (Table 4.2). For preparations 178 and 203, increase in plasma concentrations was slower, with the range of T_{max} 2 to 4 hours, and had the lowest inter-subject variability (coefficient of variation, CV=0.19 for both preparations). For the preparations 340 and 472, the timing for plasma concentration increase showed higher inter-subject variability than for 178 and 203 (CV=0.48 and 0.67 for 340 and 472 respectively). Informal visual inspection of Figure 4.2 suggested preparation 707 evoked the highest circulating CBD concentration, the shortest time to maximal concentration, and the greatest area under the curve during the blood collection period.

Formal statistical analysis, detailed in Table 4.2, supported several of these interpretations, although not all comparisons between preparation 707 and the other preparations attained statistical significance (p < 0.05). Preparation 707 also shows higher inter-subject variability for these PK parameters (Fig. 4.3). Visual examination of Figure 4.4 (Participants 2 and 16) offers some perspective on the high range of inter-subject variability.



Figure 4.2. Circulating cannabidiol (CBD) concentration following ingestion of five different preparations. Dose was standardized to 30 mg. Limit of quantitation was 0.25 ng/mL and is represented by the red dashed line. Data are mean and standard error.

By the final blood collection (4 h), average concentration was above the limit of quantitation for each preparation, but not for each participant (1 participant below for 178, 2 participants below for 203, 0 participants below for 340, 1 participant below for 472, and 2 participants below for 707). The sets of the PK values are complete for preparations 340, 472, and 707. For preparations 178 and 203, it was not possible to calculate some pharmacokinetic parameters (i.e., AUC_{0-inf} , t_{y_2} , K_e and V_d) on account of insufficient values above the limit of quantitation during the initial 1–2 h of blood collection.

Parameter	178	203	340	472	707
T _{max} (h)	$3.29 \pm 0.61^{a,b}$ n = 14	3.39 ± 0.65 ° n = 13	1.28 ± 0.62^{a} n = 15	1.53 ± 1.02^{b} n = 15	$0.70 \pm 0.23^{a,c}$ n = 15
C _{max} (ng/mL)	2.20 ± 1.88^{a} n = 14	$1.29 \pm 1.93^{b,c}$ n = 13	3.54 ± 1.65^{b} n = 15	$2.88 \pm 2.48^{\text{ d}}$ $n = 15^{\text{ d}}$	$5.57 \pm 3.32^{a,c,d}$ n = 15
AUC_{0-4} (h × ng/mL)	4.58 ± 3.88^{a} n = 14	$2.30 \pm 2.77^{\text{ b,c}}$ n = 13	$7.81 \pm 3.91^{a,b}$ n = 15	6.32 ± 4.57 n = 15	$9.12 \pm 5.21^{\circ}$ $n = 15^{\circ}$
$\begin{array}{l} AUC_{0-inf} \\ (h \times ng/mL) \end{array}$	n = 0	n = 0	13.81 ± 8.2 n = 9	9.96 ± 8.11 n = 8	10.77 ± 5.71 n = 15
t _{1/2} (h)	n = 0	n = 0	2.20 ± 1.14 n = 9	5.18 ± 7.07 n = 8	1.42 ± 0.52 n = 15
K _a (1/h)	0.32 ± 0.24 n = 5	0.24 ± 0.00 n = 2	1.19 ± 0.80 n = 15	1.87 ± 2.23 n = 14	1.43 ± 0.65 n = 12
K _e (1/h)	n = 0	n = 15	0.40 ± 0.21 n = 9	0.27 ± 0.16^{a} n = 8	0.56 ± 0.22^{a} n = 15
V _d (L)	n = 0	n = 0	7428 ± 2232 n = 9	$20,178 \pm 9989^{a}$ n = 8	8024 ± 6630^{a} n = 15

Table 4.2. Pharmacokinetic Parameters.

Data are mean and SD. Limit of quantitation: 0.25 ng/mL. Values below limit of quantitation were classed as "missing". n: number of observations used to calculate parameter. T_{max} : the time to maximum concentration. C_{max} : the maximum concentration. AUC₀₋₄: the area under the curve representing total cannabidiol exposure between 0 and 4 h. AUC_{0-inf}: an estimate of the total exposure to cannabidiol over time. t_{v_2} : the amount of time it takes to decrease the circulating concentration to half of its initial value. K_a : the rate at which the cannabidiol is absorbed into the body. K_e : the rate at which the cannabidiol is removed from the body. V_d : the volume of distribution, an estimate of the degree to which cannabidiol is distributed in the body tissue *vs*. the plasma. Values sharing the same superscript letter are different (p < 0.05).



Figure 4.3. Maximum concentration of CBD in blood plasma (C_{max}) (A) and total drug exposure during four hours (AUC₀₋₄) (B) after administration of five CBD formulations/preparations.



Figure 4.4. Individual data of circulating cannabidiol (CBD) concentration following ingestion of five different preparations for two participants. Limit of quantitation = 0.25 ng/mL.

4.3 Body Composition

Correlation analysis was carried out for pharmacokinetic parameters and selected physiological characteristics of the subjects. For 707, there was a correlation between T_{max} and height (r = -0.44, p = 0.099), bone mineral content (r = -0.53, p = 0.04), lean mass (r = -0.60, p = 0.017), fat free mass (r = -0.60, p = 0.017), body mass (r = -0.52, p = 0.048); and % body fat (r = 0.46, p = 0.082). When these variables were considered together in forward stepwise regression, only fat free mass remained a significant predictor ($R^2 = 0.365$, p = 0.017) of T_{max} . For preparation 707, there were two more relations of significance: age with C_{max} (r = 0.64, p = 0.011) and with AUC_{0-t} (r = 0.58, p = 0.024). For preparation 178 most of the correlations between T_{max} and the above listed body characteristics were positive: body mass index (r = 0.63, p = 0.016), bone mineral content (r = 0.61, p = 0.021), fat free mass (r = 0.46, p = 0.095), and body mass (r = 0.47, p = 0.091). Forward stepwise regression revealed that the only significant predictor for T_{max} was body mass index ($R^2 = 0.397$, p = 0.016). Also, for 178, an additional relation of significance was height with AUC_{0-t} (r = 0.58, p = 0.03). For the rest of the CBD preparations, no significant associations between PK parameters and body composition characteristics were identified.

4.4. Heart Rate Variability

Heart rate variability was assessed immediately prior to and 60 min following CBD ingestion. Circulating CBD concentrations for preparations 178 and 203 were below the limit of quantitation at 60 min, thus heart rate variability data associated with these preparations were excluded from statistical analysis. The heart rate variability data are presented in Table 4.3. There were main effects of time (all p < 0.05) for heart rate (decreased), R-to-R interval (increased), peak frequency of the high frequency band (decreased), Poincaré plot standard

deviation perpendicular the line of identity (increased), and Poincaré plot standard deviation along the line of identity (decreased). In addition, there were several parameters with main effects of time that did not attain statistical significance (0.05) including, baselinewidth of the R-to-R interval histogram (increased), and the ratio of Poincaré plots standarddeviation perpendicular to along the line of identity (decreased). There were no time x CBDpreparation interactions (all p > 0.10). There were no appreciable changes in heart rate and bloodpressure across the 4 h of data collection (Table 4.4).

Parameter	Parameter 178 203		3	40	472		707			
	0	60	0	60	0	60	0	60	0	60
Time Domain										
HR (b/min) ^a	57 ± 9	56 ± 10	61 ± 10	59 ± 10	58 ± 11	55 ± 10	58 ± 10	56 ± 9	57 ± 9	55 ± 9
R-to-R _{Int} (ms) ^a	1076 ± 173	1110 ± 194	1011 ± 183	1049 ± 200	1061 ± 190	1113 ± 187	1069 ± 190	1106 ± 195	1075 ± 170	1119 ± 180
SDNN (ms)	112 ± 50	115 ± 57	126 ± 53	129 ± 53	126 ± 53	125 ± 46	133 ± 64	132 ± 53	123 ± 55	129 ± 47
RMSSD (ms)	100 ± 43	108 ± 56	118 ± 57	116 ± 50	113 ± 47	117 ± 41	121 ± 60	125 ± 55	113 ± 54	126 ± 49
R-to-R Triangular Index (ms)	19 ± 8	19 ± 6	17 ± 5	21 ± 6	21 ± 7	22 ± 8	22 ± 8	22 ± 10	21 ± 7	20 ± 8
TINN (ms) ^b	466 ± 174	525 ± 237	537 ± 167	605 ± 188	592 ± 252	624 ± 219	619 ± 215	708 ± 255	598 ± 242	697 ± 239
				Frequency	Domain					
VLF _{peak} (Hz)	0.037 ± 0.003	0.035 ± 0.005	0.037 ± 0.005	0.037 ± 0.004	0.035 ± 0.004	0.035 ± 0.004	0.036 ± 0.003	0.035 ± 0.005	0.037 ± 0.003	0.036 ± 0.005
LF _{peak} (Hz)	0.1 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.0
HF _{peak} (Hz) ^a	0.21 ± 0.03	0.20 ± 0.04	0.21 ± 0.03	0.20 ± 0.01	0.22 ± 0.04	0.19 ± 0.02	0.21 ± 0.04	0.19 ± 0.01	0.21 ± 0.02	0.20 ± 0.02
Non-linear										
SI ^b	5.2 ± 2.4	4.6 ± 2.5	4.8 ± 1.9	3.9 ± 1.4	4.4 ± 2.2	3.9 ± 1.7	4.0 ± 1.6	3.5 ± 1.3	4.3 ± 2.0	3.5 ± 1.3
SD1 (%) ^a	34.3 ± 4.9	35.0 ± 3.8	34.5 ± 5.6	33.9 ± 4.0	33.7 ± 3.1	34.8 ± 3.8	34.2 ± 4.1	35.0 ± 3.6	34.5 ± 4.6	36.2 ± 5.4
SD2 (%) ^a	65.7 ± 4.9	65.2 ± 3.8	65.5 ± 5.6	66.1 ± 4.0	66.3 ± 3.1	65.2 ± 3.8	65.9 ± 4.1	65.0 ± 3.6	65.5 ± 4.6	63.9 ± 5.4
SD2/SD1 ^b	1.96 ± 0.37	1.89 ± 0.30	1.96 ± 0.37	1.98 ± 0.33	1.99 ± 0.26	1.91 ± 0.29	1.97 ± 0.35	1.89 ± 0.29	1.94 ± 0.36	1.82 ± 0.41

Table 4.3. Heart rate variability prior to and 60 min following 30 mg cannabidiol ingestion.

Data are mean \pm SD. Data were collected over 10 min during paced breathing. R-to-Rint: R-to-R interval. SDNN: Standard deviation of N-to-N intervals. RMSSD: Root mean square of successive R-to-R interval differences. R-to-R Triangular Index: Integral of the density of the R-to-R interval histogram divided by its height. TINN: Baseline width of the R-to-R interval histogram. VLFpeak: Peak frequency of the very low frequency band (0.0033–0.04 Hz). LFpeak: Peak frequency of the low frequency band (0.04–0.15 Hz). HFpeak: Peak frequency of the high frequency band (0.15–0.4 Hz). SI: Stress Index. SD1: Poincaré plot standard deviation perpendicular the line of identity. SD2: Poincaré plot standard deviation along the line of identity. SD2/SD1: Ratio of SD2-to-SD1. ^a Denotes main effect of time (p < 0.05). ^b Denotes non-significant effect of time (0.05 0.10). Circulating CBD concentrations for preparations 178 and 203 were below the limit of quantitation at 60 min, thus heart rate variability data associated with these preparations were excluded from statistical analysis

Time	Vor	Cannabidiol Preparation (30 mg)								
	var.	178	203	340	472	707				
Base	HR	53 ± 8	58 ± 9	56 ± 16	54 ± 10	54 ± 10				
	BP	115/70 ± 9/6	116/67 ± 12/8	115/71 ± 8/6	115/70 ± 9/6	$115/72 \pm 11/8$				
20	HR	57 ± 9	58 ± 9	54 ± 10	56 ± 12	55 ± 11				
30	BP	$121/70 \pm 11/8$	$120/71 \pm 12/5$	117/72 ± 11/7	117/70 ± 12/9	121/69 ± 12/9				
(0)	HR	58 ± 9	56 ± 10	54 ± 9	55 ± 10	55 ± 12				
00	BP	119/72 ± 10/6	119/68 ± 5/7	118/71 ± 10/7	119/69 ± 11/5	$120/71 \pm 11/8$				
120	HR	64 ± 10	65 ± 11	62 ± 10	64 ± 10	64 ± 12				
120	BP	$125/68 \pm 9/5$	$122/70 \pm 11/6$	124/68	118/66 ± 10/7	125/69 ± 9/7				
190	HR	65 ± 10	66 ± 11	65 ± 12	64 ± 11	63 ± 10				
180	BP	123/66 ± 12/9	$121/68 \pm 10/8$	122/66 ± 12/7	123/68 ± 11/9	120/67 ± 12/7				
240	HR	65 ± 12	67 ± 10	64 ± 13	66 ± 11	63 ± 9				
	BP	124/66 ± 9/5	$125/67 \pm 9/4$	122/67 ± 7/8	124/66 ± 11/7	119/68 ± 12/8				

Table 4.4. Heart rate and blood pressure response to five different cannabidiol preparations.

HR: Heart Rate (beats/minute). BP: Blood pressure (mmHg). Data are mean and SD.

Chapter 5. DISCUSSION

The goals of the current study were to compare the pharmacokinetics of five oral CBD preparations over 4 h, to examine the relationship between body composition and CBD pharmacokinetics, and to explore the influence of acute CBD ingestion on heart rate variability. Our primary findings were: (1) compared with most of the other preparations, the preparation comprising 5% CBD concentration liquid (preparation 707; Table 4.2) evoked the fastest T_{max} , and the greatest C_{max} ; (2) within each CBD preparation, there was considerable variability in the calculated pharmacokinetic parameters; some of the variability for some of the preparations could be explained by body size and composition; and, (3) CBD had only a modest effect on some of the parameters used to describe heart rate variability.

5.1 Pharmacokinetics of CBD Preparations

The high degree of variability in CBD absorption and the resulting pharmacokinetic parameters following CBD ingestion have been previously described (Hobbs et al., 2020; Izgelov et al., 2020; Knaub et al., 2019; Millar et al., 2020; Millar et al., 2018). Potential explanations for variable, and often poor, CBD absorption have pertained to properties of the CBD itself and also variability brought about by the significant first pass metabolism. To counter these potential absorption hurdles, CBD preparations have been modified, with mixed success, in a variety of ways, including generation of synthetic CBD (Izgelov et al., 2020), creation of water-soluble CBD powders (Hobbs et al., 2020), development of self-emulsifying delivery systems (Izgelov et al., 2020; Knaub et al., 2019), encapsulation of CBD within gelatin matrix pellets (Atsmon, Heffetz, et al., 2018), and liposomes (Verrico et al., 2020). One of the common ways of improving the bioavailability of dietary supplements is the use of additional ingredients that can either enhance gut absorption or favorably alter the biotransformation of the active

substance in the liver and other tissues. In our study, four out of five CBD preparations contained additional ingredients. The two preparations with the lower bioavailability contained either pure CBD (preparation 203) or only one additional ingredient (MCT oil, in preparation 178) (Table 3.2). Medium-chain triglycerides (MCT) have been shown to facilitate absorption of lipophilic substances in the GI tract (Feng et al., 2020; Yao et al., 2019), and are used in nutraceutical and pharmaceutical preparations both for bioavailability enhancement of other active ingredients and for their own multiple physiological properties in managing certain health conditions (Kharat, Du, Zhang, & McClements, 2017; Y. Y. Lee et al., 2021). Based on the results of our study, MCT oil by itself only moderately increased CBD bioavailability, since preparation 178 evoked slightly higher C_{max} and AUC than preparation 203, but still lower than the other preparations. Preparation 707 appeared to be the superior preparation as, compared with most of the others, it generally evoked the fastest T_{max}, greatest C_{max}, and largest AUC. Besides MCT oil, it included gum arabic and citric acid as additional ingredients. Gum arabic is widely used in food and pharmaceutical industries as stabilizer and emulsifier (Ward, 2000). It has excellent functional properties such as high solubility and low viscosity, and has shown to increase the bioavailability of lipophilic substances (Lamsen et al., 2020).

Perhaps more important than comparisons within the current study are comparisons of the preparations to others described within the literature. From all the published up to date information on CBD pharmacokinetics we extracted data from 14 studies and presented 27 sets of pharmacokinetic data that are comparable to our study (Table 1.1). There, only 9 sets of data pertain to low oral CBD doses of 30 mg or less. Our study added five more sets of PK data to this review (Table 5.1). Preparation 707 from the current study appears to have the fastest T_{max} , but a smaller C_{max} when compared with the self-emulsifying drug delivery system (SEDDS). The

favorable CBD bioavailability of the SEDDS formulation was attributed to augmented solubility within the GI tract. Additional contribution of our study to the current knowledge of CBD pharmacokinetics are calculations of several PK parameters that were not commonly recorded at lower doses of administration: t_{2} , K_a , K_e , and V_d . Half-life (t_{2}), the amount of time it takes to decrease the circulating concentration to half of its initial value, is a very important consideration for CBD use in the context of pharmacokinetic research, where undetectable baseline circulating CBD concentrations can be critical for the valid derivation of pharmacokinetic parameters. Most of the t_{2} values in our study fall within the previously established range of 1.09 to 2.54 hours (Table 5.1) with the exception of preparation 472, which showed somewhat larger value of 5.18 h. This is further illustrated by its low K_e value, denoting a slower rate of elimination. Due to the lack of comparative data, we can only speculate that additional ingredients in this preparation (sorbitol and modified food starch) could potentially influence the rate of CBD elimination.

The important considerations when evaluating CBD formulations are the therapeutic goal and intended use of the drug. If the indication for the CBD is to treat acute pain, then a faster T_{max} and higher C_{max} may be desirable and may also help to decrease the risk of overdose due to premature repeat self-administration. Alternatively, as a chronic treatment for anxiety, a larger AUC and slower rate of elimination may be preferable if a user follows a regular dosing schedule. Also, the other, less obvious, pharmacokinetic effects of specific CBD formulations should be considered.

Table 5.1. Comparison of pharmacokinetic parameters of current preparations with previously reported studies of ingestible cannabidiol doses 5-30 mg.

Study	Formulation, Administration,	T _{max}	C _{max}	AUC _{0-t}	AUC ₀₋	t1/2	Ka	Ke	V_d
	CBD Single Dose (mg)	(hr)	(ng/m	(hr x	inf	(hr)	(1/hr)	(1/hr)	(L)
			L)	ng/mL)	(hr x				
					ng/mL)				
(Nadulski, Pragst, et	Oral capsule (CBD+THC) 5.4	0.99	0.93	4.35					
al., 2005)	mg								
(Nadulski, Sporkert,	Oral capsule (CBD+THC) 5.4	1.0	0.95						
et al., 2005)	mg								
(Guy & Robson,	GW oral capsule (CBD+THC)	1.27	2.47	5.76	6.03	1.09			
2004)	10 mg								
(Cherniakov et al.,	Oral capsule (CBD+THC) 10	1	2.1	6.9					
2017)	mg								
(Atsmon, Heffetz, et	PTL101* CBD oral capsule 10	3	3.22	9.64	10.31	2.95		0.1	
al., 2018)	mg								
(Atsmon,	PTL401*(CBD+THC) oral	1.25	2.94	9.85	10.52	3.21		0.29	
Cherniakov, et al.,	capsule 10 mg								
2018)									
(Knaub et al., 2019)	Oral capsule MCT-CBD** 25	3.0	3.05	9.51	19.23				
	mg								

(Knaub et al., 2019)	Oral capsule SEDDS-CBD***		13.53	27.15	32.63				
	25 mg								
(Hobbs et al., 2020)	Caliper CBD water soluble 30	0.9	2.82	6.80	7.94	2.54	1.68	0.66	
	mg								
(Hobbs et al., 2020)	Caliper CBD lipid soluble 30	1.5	0.65	1.51	1.64	2.30	1.14	0.72	
	mg								
	Preparation 178 CBD 30 mg	3.29	2.20	4.58	-	-	0.32	-	-
	Preparation 203 CBD 30 mg	3.39	1.29	2.30	-	-	0.24	-	-
	Preparation 340 CBD 30 mg	1.28	3.54	7.81	13.81	2.20	1.19	0.40	7428
	Preparation 472 CBD 30 mg	1.53	2.88	6.32	9.96	5.18	1.87	0.27	20178
	Preparation 707 CBD 30 mg	0.70	5.57	9.12	10.77	1.42	1.43	0.56	8024

CBD: Cannabidiol. T_{max} : the time to maximum concentration. C_{max} : the maximum concentration. AUC_{0-it}: the area under the curve representing total cannabidiol exposure between 0 and end of data collection. AUC_{0-inf}: an estimate of the total exposure to cannabidiol over time. t_{ν_2} : the amount of time it takes to decrease the circulating concentration to half of its initial value. K_a : the rate at which the cannabidiol is absorbed into the body. K_e : the rate at which the cannabidiol is removed from the body. V_d : the volume of distribution, an estimate of the degree to which cannabidiol is distributed in the body tissue νs . the plasma. * PTL- gelatin matrix pellets technology-based formulation; ** MCT-CBD – medium-chain triglycerides; *** SEDDS-CBD – self-emulsifying drug delivery system.

5.2 Effect of Body Composition

An influence of body size and composition on CBD pharmacokinetics has been previously speculated but to our knowledge is currently undocumented. In the current study we used DEXA to quantify body composition. Some of the inter-personal variability, for some of the preparations, could be explained by body size and composition as reflected by correlations between several of the DEXA-derived variables and CBD pharmacokinetic parameters. Preparation 707 showed a negative correlation between T_{max} and several parameters of body composition: bone mineral content, lean mass, fat free mass, and body mass. Since these are interdependent variables, they were considered together in forward stepwise regression, and fat free mass remained a significant predictor of T_{max}, which means that individuals with higher fat free mass achieve C_{max} faster. The shorter time to peak concentration in adults with greater fat free mass may reflect a greater rate of clearance by metabolically active and relatively wellperfused tissues (such as skeletal muscle). It is noteworthy that, fat free mass did not predict C_{max} or AUC for preparation 707. Interestingly, for this preparation, age positively correlated with C_{max} and AUC, which implies that older individuals have greater drug exposure at the same dose. This tendency is harder to explain since absorption in the GI tract doesn't seem to improve with age but rather the opposite (VanPutte et al., 2020). We can speculate that younger individuals may endure greater losses of active substance at first-pass metabolism due to higher activity of xenobiotic enzymes. Alternatively, older adults may have slower rate of clearance due to reduction in lean skeletal muscle mass, well perfused and metabolically active tissue that facilitates clearance. Since older adults might be a group in which CBD would be particularly helpful if they suffer from pain or other conditions that are applicable to CBD treatments, studies that evaluate CBD pharmacokinetics specifically in this population group may help to establish normative values for CBD formulations for older adults. Our study was neither designed nor

statistically powered to compare CBD pharmacokinetics in younger individuals vs. older adults. More studies are warranted to explore age-related differences. Preparation 178, with one of the slower T_{max} , showed positive correlation between T_{max} and body mass index. It is possible that for preparations absorbed more slowly (i.e., slower rate of entry into the blood), body size (and presumably blood volume) may contribute to time to peak circulating concentration. Interestingly, preparation 203, also with slow T_{max}, didn't exhibit a similar tendency. Since 203 also achieved relatively low C_{max} and AUC, we can speculate that very limited gut CBD absorption for this preparation may have rendered its distribution in the body (and thus the dependence on body size and blood volume) less important. From a broader perspective, CBD bioavailability may be determined not only by preparation/formulation, but perhaps also by body size and composition; however, interaction between multiple variables both in preparation and body composition make it impossible to give any clear recommendations to the user based on currently available data. More research is warranted for establishing future dosing guidelines for therapeutic purposes, with additional considerations to be given to age, body composition, physiological characteristics, and the overall state of health of the consumer.

5.3 CBD Influence on Heart Rate Variability

An additional goal of the current study was to explore the influence of acute CBD ingestion on heart rate variability, the inconsistencies in the periods of time separating consecutive cardiac cycles. It is an important predictor of future cardiac events (Tsuji et al., 1996; Zbilut & Lawson, 1988) and, in some instances, longevity (Hernandez-Vicente et al., 2020). While there are many methods and different parameters used to quantify heart rate variability, generally speaking, greater variability is considered desirable. To our knowledge, this is the first exploration of a potential influence of acute CBD on heart rate variability in adult

humans. One previous study has examined the short-term influence of CBD (administered as a hemp oil extract) on heart rate variability (Lopez et al., 2020) but the experimental design did not include an acute measurement. Other studies have compared heart rate variability in users and non-users of *Cannabis sativa* L. (i.e., CBD plus THC and other potentially active ingredients), thus making assertions as to the independent influence of CBD difficult (Schmid, Schonlebe, Drexler, & Mueck-Weymann, 2010). A recent study evaluated cannabidiol expectancy effects on acute stress and anxiety in healthy adults (Spinella, Stewart, Naugler, Yakovenko, & Barrett, 2021). The authors measured HRV in subjects following administration of CBD-free oil on two occasions: during one session, the subjects were falsely informed that the oil contained CBD and in the other session, that the oil was CBD-free. Since no actual CBD was administered in that study, the effect on HRV reflects only psychological anticipatory reactions that were dependent, as to the authors' conclusions, on *a priori* beliefs regarding the anxiety-dampening effects of CBD.

In the current study, acute CBD ingestion decreased heart rate, peak frequency of the high frequency band, and Poincaré plot standard deviation along the line of identity. CBD ingestion increased R-to-R interval and Poincaré plot standard deviation perpendicular to the line of identity (Table 4.3). Poincaré plots are a useful tool in the heart rate variability analysis arsenal; they are often able to recognize patterns and rhythms in the R-to-R interval data that are sometimes overlooked using spectral analysis (Blake, Shaw, Culshaw, & Martinez-Pereira, 2018; Brennan, Palaniswami, & Kamen, 2002). From an interpretation perspective, the standard deviation perpendicular to the line of identity reflects short-term heart rate variability and is thought to be regulated by parasympathetic (vagal) input, while the standard deviation along the line of identity reflects total heart rate variability and is determined by a combination of

sympathetic and parasympathetic input (Brennan et al., 2002). When considered together, the ratio of these two variables (i.e., the SD2/SD1 ratio; Table 4.3) represents sympathovagal balance. In light of the opposing direction of change in these Poincaré plot data, in addition to the small magnitude of change in the other heart rate variability parameters, it appears likely that acute CBD evokes only a modest, and physiologically irrelevant effect on heart rate variability, at least when studied at rest.

Our study has several limitations. Since our primary focus was the pharmacokinetics of the different CBD preparations and the potential interaction with body size and composition, we did not include a placebo control within our experimental design. Thus, any conclusions with respect to our exploration of the acute influence of CBD on heart rate variability must be considered with caution. For example, it is plausible that CBD does not exert any acute influence on heart rate variability, and we are simply reporting on the influence of 60 min of semirecumbent rest. The second consideration is related to our study inclusion/exclusion criteria. In our subject recruitment we did not differentiate between habitual cannabis or CBD users and non-users; the requirement was 72-hour abstention from using any products containing CBD before each visit. Our rationale was based on the published data that the terminal elimination half-life of CBD administered to fasted humans varies between 6 and 32 h (Devinsky et al., 2014; Hosseini et al., 2021) depending on mode of administration and CBD preparation. Therefore, our choice of a minimum 72-hour washout/abstention period between consecutive laboratory visits seemed reasonable. Also, all baseline (time 0) concentrations for all CBD preparations, for all participants, were below the limit of quantitation. Nevertheless, after a 12hour fast even such minimal activity as being subjected to study procedures during the first fasting hour of blood sampling could possibly involve oxidation of some body fat. As a

lipophilic substance, CBD can potentially accumulate in adipose tissue in a manner similar to that previously reported for THC (Johansson et al., 1989; Wong et al., 2013). Therefore, CBD released from fat deposits during the first hour after baseline blood sampling could potentially contribute to plasma concentrations beyond the dose established by the study protocol. However, considering well known high inter-individual variability of CBD bioavailability, the confounding effect of previous cannabis use can be considered negligible.

CONCLUSION

The objectives of the current study were to assess the bioavailability of five different oral preparations of CBD, to examine the relationship between body composition and pharmacokinetics, and to explore the acute influence of CBD ingestion on heart rate variability. In relation to bioavailability, we identified a CBD preparation that compared well with respect to other preparations described in the literature, and with the other preparations incorporated within our design. Furthermore, we demonstrated that some of the pharmacokinetic parameters of this superior preparation were influenced by body size, body composition, and the age of the consumer. These findings highlight the need to optimize CBD preparations and personalize dosing strategies in order to confirm the physiological relevance of CBD as a potential therapeutic agent. Finally, we documented, for the first time, a modest effect of acute CBD ingestion on selected parameters of resting heart rate variability in healthy adults, alleviating any potential concerns that CBD may unfavorably impact autonomic regulation of heart rate.

REFERENCES

- Adams, R., Hunt, M., & Clark, J. H. (1940). Structure of cannabidiol, a product isolated from the marihuana extract of Minnesota wild hemp. *Journal of American Chemical Society*, 62, 196.
- Ahrens, J., Demir, R., Leuwer, M., de la Roche, J., Krampfl, K., Foadi, N., . . . Haeseler, G. (2009). The nonpsychotropic cannabinoid cannabidiol modulates and directly activates alpha-1 and alpha-1-Beta glycine receptor function. *Pharmacology*, 83(4), 217-222. doi:10.1159/000201556
- Appendino, G., Gibbons, S., Giana, A., Pagani, A., Grassi, G., Stavri, M., . . . Rahman, M. M. (2008). Antibacterial cannabinoids from Cannabis sativa: a structure-activity study. *J Nat Prod*, 71(8), 1427-1430. doi:10.1021/np8002673
- Arkell, T. R., Lintzeris, N., Kevin, R. C., Ramaekers, J. G., Vandrey, R., Irwin, C., . . . McGregor, I. S. (2019). Cannabidiol (CBD) content in vaporized cannabis does not prevent tetrahydrocannabinol (THC)-induced impairment of driving and cognition. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 236(9), 2713-2724. doi:10.1007/s00213-019-05246-8
- Atsmon, J., Cherniakov, I., Izgelov, D., Hoffman, A., Domb, A. J., Deutsch, L., ... Sacks, H. (2018). PTL401, a New Formulation Based on Pro-Nano Dispersion Technology, Improves Oral Cannabinoids Bioavailability in Healthy Volunteers. *J Pharm Sci*, 107(5), 1423-1429. doi:10.1016/j.xphs.2017.12.020
- Atsmon, J., Heffetz, D., Deutsch, L., Deutsch, F., & Sacks, H. (2018). Single-Dose Pharmacokinetics of Oral Cannabidiol Following Administration of PTL101: A New Formulation Based on Gelatin Matrix Pellets Technology. *Clin Pharmacol Drug Dev*, 7(7), 751-758. doi:10.1002/cpdd.408
- Bergamaschi, M. M., Queiroz, R. H., Zuardi, A. W., & Crippa, J. A. (2011). Safety and side effects of cannabidiol, a Cannabis sativa constituent. *Curr Drug Saf, 6*(4), 237-249. doi:10.2174/157488611798280924
- Birnbaum, A. K., Karanam, A., Marino, S. E., Barkley, C. M., Remmel, R. P., Roslawski, M., . . . Leppik, I. E. (2019). Food effect on pharmacokinetics of cannabidiol oral capsules in adult patients with refractory epilepsy. *Epilepsia*, 60(8), 1586-1592. doi:10.1111/epi.16093
- Blake, R. R., Shaw, D. J., Culshaw, G. J., & Martinez-Pereira, Y. (2018). Poincare plots as a measure of heart rate variability in healthy dogs. *J Vet Cardiol*, 20(1), 20-32. doi:10.1016/j.jvc.2017.10.006
- Borrelli, F., Pagano, E., Romano, B., Panzera, S., Maiello, F., Coppola, D., . . . Izzo, A. A. (2014). Colon carcinogenesis is inhibited by the TRPM8 antagonist cannabigerol, a Cannabis-derived non-psychotropic cannabinoid. *Carcinogenesis*, 35(12), 2787-2797. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgu205
- Brennan, M., Palaniswami, M., & Kamen, P. (2002). Poincare plot interpretation using a physiological model of HRV based on a network of oscillators. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 283*(5), H1873-1886. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00405.2000
- Brown, J. D., & Winterstein, A. G. (2019). Potential Adverse Drug Events and Drug-Drug Interactions with Medical and Consumer Cannabidiol (CBD) Use. *J Clin Med*, 8(7). doi:10.3390/jcm8070989
- Burstein, S. (2015). Cannabidiol (CBD) and its analogs: a review of their effects on inflammation. *Bioorg Med Chem*, 23(7), 1377-1385. doi:10.1016/j.bmc.2015.01.059
- Calvi, L., Pentimalli, D., Panseri, S., Giupponi, L., Gelmini, F., Beretta, G., . . . Giorgi, A. (2018). Comprehensive quality evaluation of medical Cannabis sativa L. inflorescence and macerated oils based on HS-SPME coupled to GC-MS and LC-HRMS (q-exactive orbitrap(R)) approach. *J Pharm Biomed Anal*, 150, 208-219. doi:10.1016/j.jpba.2017.11.073
- Campos, A. C., Fogaca, M. V., Sonego, A. B., & Guimaraes, F. S. (2016). Cannabidiol, neuroprotection and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Pharmacol Res*, 112, 119-127. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2016.01.033
- Carlini, E. A., & Cunha, J. M. (1981). Hypnotic and antiepileptic effects of cannabidiol. *J Clin Pharmacol*, 21(S1), 417S-427S. doi:10.1002/j.1552-4604.1981.tb02622.x
- Cather, J. C., & Cather, J. C. (2020). Cannabidiol primer for healthcare professionals. *Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent)*, 33(3), 376-379. doi:10.1080/08998280.2020.1775437
- Chagas, M. H., Crippa, J. A., Zuardi, A. W., Hallak, J. E., Machado-de-Sousa, J. P., Hirotsu, C., . . Andersen, M. L. (2013). Effects of acute systemic administration of cannabidiol on sleep-wake cycle in rats. *J Psychopharmacol*, 27(3), 312-316. doi:10.1177/0269881112474524
- Cherniakov, I., Izgelov, D., Barasch, D., Davidson, E., Domb, A. J., & Hoffman, A. (2017).
 Piperine-pro-nanolipospheres as a novel oral delivery system of cannabinoids:
 Pharmacokinetic evaluation in healthy volunteers in comparison to buccal spray administration. *J Control Release*, 266, 1-7. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2017.09.011
- Coetzee, C., Levendal, R. A., van de Venter, M., & Frost, C. L. (2007). Anticoagulant effects of a Cannabis extract in an obese rat model. *Phytomedicine*, *14*(5), 333-337. doi:10.1016/j.phymed.2006.02.004
- Costiniuk, C. T., & Jenabian, M. A. (2019). Cannabinoids and inflammation: implications for people living with HIV. *AIDS*, *33*(15), 2273-2288. doi:10.1097/QAD.0000000002345

- Couch, D. G., Cook, H., Ortori, C., Barrett, D., Lund, J. N., & O'Sullivan, S. E. (2019). Palmitoylethanolamide and Cannabidiol Prevent Inflammation-induced Hyperpermeability of the Human Gut In Vitro and In Vivo-A Randomized, Placebocontrolled, Double-blind Controlled Trial. *Inflamm Bowel Dis*, 25(6), 1006-1018. doi:10.1093/ibd/izz017
- Crockett, J., Critchley, D., Tayo, B., Berwaerts, J., & Morrison, G. (2020). A phase 1, randomized, pharmacokinetic trial of the effect of different meal compositions, whole milk, and alcohol on cannabidiol exposure and safety in healthy subjects. *Epilepsia*, 61(2), 267-277. doi:10.1111/epi.16419
- Davy, K. P., & Seals, D. R. (1994). Total blood volume in healthy young and older men. *J Appl Physiol* (1985), 76(5), 2059-2062. doi:10.1152/jappl.1994.76.5.2059
- de Faria, S. M., de Morais Fabricio, D., Tumas, V., Castro, P. C., Ponti, M. A., Hallak, J. E., . . . Chagas, M. H. N. (2020). Effects of acute cannabidiol administration on anxiety and tremors induced by a Simulated Public Speaking Test in patients with Parkinson's disease. *J Psychopharmacol*, *34*(2), 189-196. doi:10.1177/0269881119895536
- De Petrocellis, L., Ligresti, A., Schiano Moriello, A., Iappelli, M., Verde, R., Stott, C. G., . . . Di Marzo, V. (2013). Non-THC cannabinoids inhibit prostate carcinoma growth in vitro and in vivo: pro-apoptotic effects and underlying mechanisms. *Br J Pharmacol*, *168*(1), 79-102. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.02027.x
- Devinsky, O., Cilio, M. R., Cross, H., Fernandez-Ruiz, J., French, J., Hill, C., . . . Friedman, D. (2014). Cannabidiol: pharmacology and potential therapeutic role in epilepsy and other neuropsychiatric disorders. *Epilepsia*, 55(6), 791-802. doi:10.1111/epi.12631
- Devinsky, O., Thiele, E. A., Wright, S., Checketts, D., Morrison, G., Dunayevich, E., & Knappertz, V. (2020). Cannabidiol efficacy independent of clobazam: Meta-analysis of four randomized controlled trials. *Acta Neurol Scand*, 142(6), 531-540. doi:10.1111/ane.13305
- DiPrio, J. T., Spruill, W. J., & Blouin, R. A. (2010). *Concepts of Clinical Pharmacokinetics*: American Society of Health-System Pharmacists.
- Eichler, M., Spinedi, L., Unfer-Grauwiler, S., Bodmer, M., Surber, C., Luedi, M., & Drewe, J. (2012). Heat exposure of Cannabis sativa extracts affects the pharmacokinetic and metabolic profile in healthy male subjects. *Planta Med*, 78(7), 686-691. doi:10.1055/s-0031-1298334
- ElSohly, M. A., Radwan, M. M., Gul, W., Chandra, S., & Galal, A. (2017). Phytochemistry of Cannabis sativa L. *Prog Chem Org Nat Prod*, 103, 1-36. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-45541-9_1

- Eskander, J. P., Spall, J., Spall, A., Shah, R. V., & Kaye, A. D. (2020). Cannabidiol (CBD) as a treatment of acute and chronic back pain: A case series and literature review. *J Opioid Manag*, *16*(3), 215-218. doi:10.5055/jom.2020.0570
- Esposito, G., Scuderi, C., Valenza, M., Togna, G. I., Latina, V., De Filippis, D., . . . Steardo, L. (2011). Cannabidiol reduces Abeta-induced neuroinflammation and promotes hippocampal neurogenesis through PPARgamma involvement. *PLoS One*, *6*(12), e28668. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0028668
- Feng, J., Huang, M., Chai, Z., Li, C., Huang, W., Cui, L., & Li, Y. (2020). The influence of oil composition on the transformation, bioaccessibility, and intestinal absorption of curcumin in nanostructured lipid carriers. *Food Funct*, 11(6), 5223-5239. doi:10.1039/d0fo00473a
- Fitzpatrick, J. M., Minogue, E., Curham, L., Tyrrell, H., Gavigan, P., Hind, W., & Downer, E. J. (2020). MyD88-dependent and -independent signalling via TLR3 and TLR4 are differentially modulated by Delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol in human macrophages. *J Neuroimmunol*, 343, 577217. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2020.577217
- Giacoppo, S., Galuppo, M., Pollastro, F., Grassi, G., Bramanti, P., & Mazzon, E. (2015). A new formulation of cannabidiol in cream shows therapeutic effects in a mouse model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Daru, 23*, 48. doi:10.1186/s40199-015-0131-8
- Gomes, F. V., Alves, F. H., Guimaraes, F. S., Correa, F. M., Resstel, L. B., & Crestani, C. C. (2013). Cannabidiol administration into the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis alters cardiovascular responses induced by acute restraint stress through 5-HT(1)A receptor. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, 23(9), 1096-1104. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2012.09.007
- Gould, J. (2015). Cannabis: 4 big questions. Nature, 525(7570), S1.
- Guy, G. W., & Flint, M. E. (2004). A single cente, placebo-controlled, four period, crossover, tolerability study assessing pharmacodynamic effects, pharmacokinetic characteristics and cognitive profiles of a single dose of three formulations of Cannabis Based Medicine Extracts (CBMEs) (GWPD9901), plus a two period tolerability study comparing pharmacodynamic effects and pharmacokinetic characteristics of a single dose of a cannabis based medicine extract given via two administration routes (GWPD9901 EXT). *Journal of Cannabis Therapeutics, 3*, 35-77. doi:10.1300/J175v03n03_03
- Guy, G. W., & Robson, P. J. (2004). A phase I, double blind, three-way crossover study to assess the pharmacokinetic profile of Cannabis Based Medicine Extract (CBME) administered sublingually in variant cannabinoid ratios in normal healthy male volunteers. *Journal of Cannabis Therapeutics*, 3, 121–152. doi:10.1300/J175v03n04_02
- Hampson, A. J., Grimaldi, M., Lolic, M., Wink, D., Rosenthal, R., & Axelrod, J. (2000). Neuroprotective antioxidants from marijuana. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 899, 274-282. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10863546</u>

- Hanus, L. O., Meyer, S. M., Munoz, E., Taglialatela-Scafati, O., & Appendino, G. (2016). Phytocannabinoids: a unified critical inventory. *Nat Prod Rep*, 33(12), 1357-1392. doi:10.1039/c6np00074f
- Hernandez-Vicente, A., Hernando, D., Santos-Lozano, A., Rodriguez-Romo, G., Vicente-Rodriguez, G., Pueyo, E., . . . Garatachea, N. (2020). Heart Rate Variability and Exceptional Longevity. *Front Physiol*, *11*, 566399. doi:10.3389/fphys.2020.566399
- Hobbs, J. M., Vazquez, A. R., Remijan, N. D., Trotter, R. E., McMillan, T. V., Freedman, K. E., ... Weir, T. L. (2020). Evaluation of pharmacokinetics and acute anti-inflammatory potential of two oral cannabidiol preparations in healthy adults. *Phytother Res*, 34(7), 1696-1703. doi:10.1002/ptr.6651
- Hosseini, A., McLachlan, A. J., & Lickliter, J. D. (2021). A phase I trial of the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of cannabidiol administered as single-dose oil solution and single and multiple doses of a sublingual wafer in healthy volunteers. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, 87(4), 2070-2077. doi:10.1111/bcp.14617
- Huestis, M. A. (2007). Human cannabinoid pharmacokinetics. *Chem Biodivers*, 4(8), 1770-1804. doi:10.1002/cbdv.200790152
- Iannotti, F. A., Hill, C. L., Leo, A., Alhusaini, A., Soubrane, C., Mazzarella, E., . . . Stephens, G. J. (2014). Nonpsychotropic plant cannabinoids, cannabidivarin (CBDV) and cannabidiol (CBD), activate and desensitize transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1) channels in vitro: potential for the treatment of neuronal hyperexcitability. ACS Chem Neurosci, 5(11), 1131-1141. doi:10.1021/cn5000524
- Ibeas Bih, C., Chen, T., Nunn, A. V., Bazelot, M., Dallas, M., & Whalley, B. J. (2015). Molecular Targets of Cannabidiol in Neurological Disorders. *Neurotherapeutics*, 12(4), 699-730. doi:10.1007/s13311-015-0377-3
- Itin, C., Barasch, D., Domb, A. J., & Hoffman, A. (2020). Prolonged oral transmucosal delivery of highly lipophilic drug cannabidiol. *Int J Pharm*, 581, 119276. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2020.119276
- Itin, C., Domb, A. J., & Hoffman, A. (2019). A meta-opinion: cannabinoids delivered to oral mucosa by a spray for systemic absorption are rather ingested into gastro-intestinal tract: the influences of fed / fasting states. *Expert Opin Drug Deliv*, 16(10), 1031-1035. doi:10.1080/17425247.2019.1653852
- Izgelov, D., Davidson, E., Barasch, D., Regev, A., Domb, A. J., & Hoffman, A. (2020).
 Pharmacokinetic investigation of synthetic cannabidiol oral formulations in healthy volunteers. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm*, *154*, 108-115. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2020.06.021
- Jadoon, K. A., Ratcliffe, S. H., Barrett, D. A., Thomas, E. L., Stott, C., Bell, J. D., . . . Tan, G. D. (2016). Efficacy and Safety of Cannabidiol and Tetrahydrocannabivarin on Glycemic and

Lipid Parameters in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Parallel Group Pilot Study. *Diabetes Care, 39*(10), 1777-1786. doi:10.2337/dc16-0650

- Jadoon, K. A., Tan, G. D., & O'Sullivan, S. E. (2017). A single dose of cannabidiol reduces blood pressure in healthy volunteers in a randomized crossover study. *JCI Insight*, 2(12). doi:10.1172/jci.insight.93760
- Johansson, E., Noren, K., Sjovall, J., & Halldin, M. M. (1989). Determination of delta 1tetrahydrocannabinol in human fat biopsies from marihuana users by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Biomed Chromatogr, 3*(1), 35-38. doi:10.1002/bmc.1130030109
- Johansson, E., Ohlsson, A., Lindgren, J. E., Agurell, S., Gillespie, H., & Hollister, L. E. (1987). Single-dose kinetics of deuterium-labelled cannabinol in man after intravenous administration and smoking. *Biomed Environ Mass Spectrom*, 14(9), 495-499. doi:10.1002/bms.1200140904
- Jones, P. P., Davy, K. P., DeSouza, C. A., van Pelt, R. E., & Seals, D. R. (1997). Absence of agerelated decline in total blood volume in physically active females. *Am J Physiol*, 272(6 Pt 2), H2534-2540. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.1997.272.6.H2534
- Karl, T., Garner, B., & Cheng, D. (2017). The therapeutic potential of the phytocannabinoid cannabidiol for Alzheimer's disease. *Behav Pharmacol*, 28(2 and 3-Spec Issue), 142-160. doi:10.1097/FBP.00000000000247
- Kathmann, M., Flau, K., Redmer, A., Trankle, C., & Schlicker, E. (2006). Cannabidiol is an allosteric modulator at mu- and delta-opioid receptors. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*, *372*(5), 354-361. doi:10.1007/s00210-006-0033-x
- Kharat, M., Du, Z., Zhang, G., & McClements, D. J. (2017). Physical and Chemical Stability of Curcumin in Aqueous Solutions and Emulsions: Impact of pH, Temperature, and Molecular Environment. *J Agric Food Chem*, 65(8), 1525-1532. doi:10.1021/acs.jafc.6b04815
- Kim, E. S., & Mahlberg, P. G. (2003). Secretory vesicle formation in the secretory cavity of glandular trichomes of Cannabis sativa L. (Cannabaceae). *Mol Cells*, 15(3), 387-395. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12872998</u>
- Knaub, K., Sartorius, T., Dharsono, T., Wacker, R., Wilhelm, M., & Schon, C. (2019). A Novel Self-Emulsifying Drug Delivery System (SEDDS) Based on VESIsorb((R)) Formulation Technology Improving the Oral Bioavailability of Cannabidiol in Healthy Subjects. *Molecules*, 24(16). doi:10.3390/molecules24162967

- Lamsen, M. R. L., Wang, T., D'Souza, D., Dia, V., Chen, G., & Zhong, Q. (2020). Encapsulation of vitamin D3 in gum arabic to enhance bioavailability and stability for beverage applications. *J Food Sci.* doi:10.1111/1750-3841.15340
- Lanz, C., Mattsson, J., Soydaner, U., & Brenneisen, R. (2016). Medicinal Cannabis: In Vitro Validation of Vaporizers for the Smoke-Free Inhalation of Cannabis. *PLoS One*, 11(1), e0147286. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0147286
- Laursen, L. (2015). Botany: The cultivation of weed. *Nature*, *525*(7570), S4-5. doi:10.1038/525S4a
- Lee, D., Schwope, D. M., Milman, G., Barnes, A. J., Gorelick, D. A., & Huestis, M. A. (2012). Cannabinoid Disposition in Oral Fluid after Controlled Smoked Cannabis *Clinical Chemistry*, 58(4), 748–756.
- Lee, Y. Y., Tang, T. K., Chan, E. S., Phuah, E. T., Lai, O. M., Tan, C. P., . . . Tan, J. S. (2021). Medium chain triglyceride and medium-and long chain triglyceride: metabolism, production, health impacts and its applications - a review. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*, 1-17. doi:10.1080/10408398.2021.1873729
- Leehey, M. e. a. (2020, August 11-12). A Randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled, parallel study of tolerability and efficacy of cannabidiol on motor symptoms in Parkinson disease: Interim report on tolerability. Paper presented at the Institute of Cannabis Research, Pueblo, Colorado.
- Leweke, F. M., Piomelli, D., Pahlisch, F., Muhl, D., Gerth, C. W., Hoyer, C., . . . Koethe, D. (2012). Cannabidiol enhances anandamide signaling and alleviates psychotic symptoms of schizophrenia. *Transl Psychiatry*, 2, e94. doi:10.1038/tp.2012.15
- Li, H., Liu, Y., Tian, D., Tian, L., Ju, X., Qi, L., . . . Liang, C. (2020). Overview of cannabidiol (CBD) and its analogues: Structures, biological activities, and neuroprotective mechanisms in epilepsy and Alzheimer's disease. *Eur J Med Chem*, 192, 112163. doi:10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112163
- Lim, S. Y., Sharan, S., & Woo, S. (2020). Model-Based Analysis of Cannabidiol Dose-Exposure Relationship and Bioavailability. *Pharmacotherapy*, 40(4), 291-300. doi:10.1002/phar.2377
- Linher-Melville, K., Zhu, Y. F., Sidhu, J., Parzei, N., Shahid, A., Seesankar, G., ... Singh, G. (2020). Evaluation of the preclinical analgesic efficacy of naturally derived, orally administered oil forms of Delta9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), cannabidiol (CBD), and their 1:1 combination. *PLoS One*, *15*(6), e0234176. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0234176
- Liu, W. M., Fowler, D. W., & Dalgleish, A. G. (2010). Cannabis-derived substances in cancer therapy--an emerging anti-inflammatory role for the cannabinoids. *Curr Clin Pharmacol*, 5(4), 281-287. doi:10.2174/157488410793352049

- Lopez, H. L., Cesareo, K. R., Raub, B., Kedia, A. W., Sandrock, J. E., Kerksick, C. M., & Ziegenfuss, T. N. (2020). Effects of Hemp Extract on Markers of Wellness, Stress Resilience, Recovery and Clinical Biomarkers of Safety in Overweight, But Otherwise Healthy Subjects. J Diet Suppl, 17(5), 561-586. doi:10.1080/19390211.2020.1765941
- Lowin, T., Schneider, M., & Pongratz, G. (2019). Joints for joints: cannabinoids in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*, *31*(3), 271-278. doi:10.1097/BOR.00000000000590
- MacCallum, C. A., & Russo, E. B. (2018). Practical considerations in medical cannabis administration and dosing. *Eur J Intern Med*, 49, 12-19. doi:10.1016/j.ejim.2018.01.004
- Mahgoub, M., Keun-Hang, S. Y., Sydorenko, V., Ashoor, A., Kabbani, N., Al Kury, L., . . . Oz, M. (2013). Effects of cannabidiol on the function of alpha7-nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 720(1-3), 310-319. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2013.10.011
- Mahlberg, P. G., & Kim, E. S. (2004). Accumulation of Cannabinoids in Glandular Trichomes of Cannabis (Cannabaceae). *Journal of Industrial Hemp*, 9(1), 15-36.
- Manini, A. F., Yiannoulos, G., Bergamaschi, M. M., Hernandez, S., Olmedo, R., Barnes, A. J., . . . Hurd, Y. L. (2015). Safety and pharmacokinetics of oral cannabidiol when administered concomitantly with intravenous fentanyl in humans. *J Addict Med*, 9(3), 204-210. doi:10.1097/ADM.00000000000118
- Mecha, M., Feliu, A., Inigo, P. M., Mestre, L., Carrillo-Salinas, F. J., & Guaza, C. (2013). Cannabidiol provides long-lasting protection against the deleterious effects of inflammation in a viral model of multiple sclerosis: a role for A2A receptors. *Neurobiol Dis*, 59, 141-150. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2013.06.016
- Mechoulam, R., Parker, L. A., & Gallily, R. (2002). Cannabidiol: an overview of some pharmacological aspects. *J Clin Pharmacol*, 42(S1), 11S-19S. doi:10.1002/j.1552-4604.2002.tb05998.x
- Merlin, M. D. (2003). Archaeological evidence for the tradition of psychoactive plant use in the old world. *Economic Botany* 57, 259.
- Millan-Guerrero, R. O., & Isais-Millan, S. (2019). Cannabis and the exocannabinoid and endocannabinoid systems. Their use and controversies. *Gac Med Mex*, 155(5), 471-474. doi:10.24875/GMM.M20000334
- Millar, S. A., Maguire, R. F., Yates, A. S., & O'Sullivan, S. E. (2020). Towards Better Delivery of Cannabidiol (CBD). *Pharmaceuticals (Basel)*, *13*(9). doi:10.3390/ph13090219
- Millar, S. A., Stone, N. L., Yates, A. S., & O'Sullivan, S. E. (2018). A Systematic Review on the Pharmacokinetics of Cannabidiol in Humans. *Front Pharmacol*, 9, 1365. doi:10.3389/fphar.2018.01365

- Mlost, J., Bryk, M., & Starowicz, K. (2020). Cannabidiol for Pain Treatment: Focus on Pharmacology and Mechanism of Action. *Int J Mol Sci*, *21*(22). doi:10.3390/ijms21228870
- Monti, J. M. (1977). Hypnoticlike effects of cannabidiol in the rat. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 55(3), 263-265. doi:10.1007/BF00497858
- Morales, P., Reggio, P. H., & Jagerovic, N. (2017). An Overview on Medicinal Chemistry of Synthetic and Natural Derivatives of Cannabidiol. *Front Pharmacol*, 8, 422. doi:10.3389/fphar.2017.00422
- Murase, R., Kawamura, R., Singer, E., Pakdel, A., Sarma, P., Judkins, J., . . . McAllister, S. D. (2014). Targeting multiple cannabinoid anti-tumour pathways with a resorcinol derivative leads to inhibition of advanced stages of breast cancer. *Br J Pharmacol*, *171*(19), 4464-4477. doi:10.1111/bph.12803
- Muthumalage, T., & Rahman, I. (2019). Cannabidiol differentially regulates basal and LPSinduced inflammatory responses in macrophages, lung epithelial cells, and fibroblasts. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 382*, 114713. doi:10.1016/j.taap.2019.114713
- Nadulski, T., Pragst, F., Weinberg, G., Roser, P., Schnelle, M., Fronk, E. M., & Stadelmann, A. M. (2005). Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study about the effects of cannabidiol (CBD) on the pharmacokinetics of Delta9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) after oral application of THC verses standardized cannabis extract. *Ther Drug Monit*, 27(6), 799-810. doi:10.1097/01.ftd.0000177223.19294.5c
- Nadulski, T., Sporkert, F., Schnelle, M., Stadelmann, A. M., Roser, P., Schefter, T., & Pragst, F. (2005). Simultaneous and sensitive analysis of THC, 11-OH-THC, THC-COOH, CBD, and CBN by GC-MS in plasma after oral application of small doses of THC and cannabis extract. J Anal Toxicol, 29(8), 782-789. doi:10.1093/jat/29.8.782
- Nana, A., Slater, G. J., Stewart, A. D., & Burke, L. M. (2015). Methodology review: using dualenergy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) for the assessment of body composition in athletes and active people. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab*, 25(2), 198-215. doi:10.1123/ijsnem.2013-0228
- Newmeyer, M. N., Desrosiers, N. A., Lee, D., Mendu, D. R., Barnes, A. J., Gorelick, D. A., & Huestis, M. A. (2014). Cannabinoid disposition in oral fluid after controlled cannabis smoking in frequent and occasional smokers. *Drug Test Anal*, 6(10), 1002-1010. doi:10.1002/dta.1632
- O'Sullivan, S. E., Sun, Y., Bennett, A. J., Randall, M. D., & Kendall, D. A. (2009). Timedependent vascular actions of cannabidiol in the rat aorta. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 612(1-3), 61-68. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2009.03.010

- Ohlsson, A., Lindgren, J. E., Andersson, S., Agurell, S., Gillespie, H., & Hollister, L. E. (1986). Single-dose kinetics of deuterium-labelled cannabidiol in man after smoking and intravenous administration. *Biomed Environ Mass Spectrom*, 13(2), 77-83. doi:10.1002/bms.1200130206
- Olah, A., Markovics, A., Szabo-Papp, J., Szabo, P. T., Stott, C., Zouboulis, C. C., & Biro, T. (2016). Differential effectiveness of selected non-psychotropic phytocannabinoids on human sebocyte functions implicates their introduction in dry/seborrhoeic skin and acne treatment. *Exp Dermatol*, 25(9), 701-707. doi:10.1111/exd.13042
- Paxton, R. J., Malcolm, M. P., Newsom, S. A., Richards, J. C., Rynn, G. M., & Bell, C. (2011). Sympathetic responses to repetitive trans-spinal magnetic stimulation. *Clin Auton Res*, 21(2), 81-87. doi:10.1007/s10286-010-0092-4
- Pellati, F., Brighenti, V., Sperlea, J., Marchetti, L., Bertelli, D., & Benvenuti, S. (2018). New Methods for the Comprehensive Analysis of Bioactive Compounds in Cannabis sativa L. (hemp). *Molecules*, 23(10). doi:10.3390/molecules23102639
- PubChem compound summary for CID 644019, Cannabidiol. (2021). *National Center for Biotechnology Information*. Retrieved from https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/cannabidiol
- Ramer, R., Heinemann, K., Merkord, J., Rohde, H., Salamon, A., Linnebacher, M., & Hinz, B. (2013). COX-2 and PPAR-gamma confer cannabidiol-induced apoptosis of human lung cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Ther*, 12(1), 69-82. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-0335
- Resstel, L. B., Tavares, R. F., Lisboa, S. F., Joca, S. R., Correa, F. M., & Guimaraes, F. S. (2009). 5-HT1A receptors are involved in the cannabidiol-induced attenuation of behavioural and cardiovascular responses to acute restraint stress in rats. *Br J Pharmacol*, *156*(1), 181-188. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2008.00046.x
- Rock, E. M., Sullivan, M. T., Collins, S. A., Goodman, H., Limebeer, C. L., Mechoulam, R., & Parker, L. A. (2020). Evaluation of repeated or acute treatment with cannabidiol (CBD), cannabidiolic acid (CBDA) or CBDA methyl ester (HU-580) on nausea and/or vomiting in rats and shrews. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 237(9), 2621-2631. doi:10.1007/s00213-020-05559-z
- Ryan, S. P. P., Newman, A. A., Wilburn, J. R., Rhoades, L. D., Trikha, S. R. J., Godwin, E. C., .
 Bell, C. (2020). Sodium Glucose Co-Transporter 2 Inhibition Does Not Favorably Modify the Physiological Responses to Dietary Counselling in Diabetes-Free, Sedentary Overweight and Obese Adult Humans. *Nutrients*, *12*(2). doi:10.3390/nu12020510
- Schmid, K., Schonlebe, J., Drexler, H., & Mueck-Weymann, M. (2010). The effects of cannabis on heart rate variability and well-being in young men. *Pharmacopsychiatry*, 43(4), 147-150. doi:10.1055/s-0030-1248314

- Schoedel, K. A., Szeto, I., Setnik, B., Sellers, E. M., Levy-Cooperman, N., Mills, C., . . . Sommerville, K. (2018). Abuse potential assessment of cannabidiol (CBD) in recreational polydrug users: A randomized, double-blind, controlled trial. *Epilepsy Behav*, 88, 162-171. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.07.027
- Schwope, D. M., Karschner, E. L., Gorelick, D. A., & Huestis, M. A. (2011). Identification of Recent Cannabis Use: Whole-Blood and Plasma Free and Glucuronidated Cannabinoid Pharmacokinetics following Controlled Smoked Cannabis Administration *Clinical Chemistry*, 57(10), 1406–1414. doi:org/10.1373/clinchem.2011.17177
- Sekar, K., & Pack, A. (2019). Epidiolex as adjunct therapy for treatment of refractory epilepsy: a comprehensive review with a focus on adverse effects. *F1000Res*, 8. doi:10.12688/f1000research.16515.1
- Sellers, E. M., Schoedel, K., Bartlett, C., Romach, M., Russo, E. B., Stott, C. G., . . . Chen, C. F. (2013). A Multiple-Dose, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Parallel-Group QT/QTc Study to Evaluate the Electrophysiologic Effects of THC/CBD Spray. *Clin Pharmacol Drug Dev*, 2(3), 285-294. doi:10.1002/cpdd.36
- Silvestri, C., Ligresti, A., & Di Marzo, V. (2011). Peripheral effects of the endocannabinoid system in energy homeostasis: adipose tissue, liver and skeletal muscle. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*, 12(3), 153-162. doi:10.1007/s11154-011-9167-3
- Smith, R. B. (1986, May 16-17). *Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics: Research Design and Analysis*, University of Pittsburg.
- Soares Vde, P., Campos, A. C., Bortoli, V. C., Zangrossi, H., Jr., Guimaraes, F. S., & Zuardi, A. W. (2010). Intra-dorsal periaqueductal gray administration of cannabidiol blocks panic-like response by activating 5-HT1A receptors. *Behav Brain Res*, 213(2), 225-229. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2010.05.004
- Spindle, T. R., Cone, E. J., Goffi, E., Weerts, E. M., Mitchell, J. M., Winecker, R. E., ... Vandrey, R. (2020). Pharmacodynamic effects of vaporized and oral cannabidiol (CBD) and vaporized CBD-dominant cannabis in infrequent cannabis users. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 211, 107937. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.107937
- Spinella, T. C., Stewart, S. H., Naugler, J., Yakovenko, I., & Barrett, S. P. (2021). Evaluating cannabidiol (CBD) expectancy effects on acute stress and anxiety in healthy adults: a randomized crossover study. *Psychopharmacology (Berl), 238*(7), 1965-1977. doi:10.1007/s00213-021-05823-w
- Stott, C., White, L., Wright, S., Wilbraham, D., & Guy, G. (2013). A Phase I, open-label, randomized, crossover study in three parallel groups to evaluate the effect of Rifampicin, Ketoconazole, and Omeprazole on the pharmacokinetics of THC/CBD oromucosal spray in healthy volunteers. *Springerplus*, 2(1), 236. doi:10.1186/2193-1801-2-236

- Stott, C. G., White, L., Wright, S., Wilbraham, D., & Guy, G. W. (2013). A phase I study to assess the effect of food on the single dose bioavailability of the THC/CBD oromucosal spray. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, 69(4), 825-834. doi:10.1007/s00228-012-1393-4
- Sultan, S. R., Millar, S. A., England, T. J., & O'Sullivan, S. E. (2017). A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Haemodynamic Effects of Cannabidiol. *Front Pharmacol*, 8, 81. doi:10.3389/fphar.2017.00081
- Sultan, S. R., O'Sullivan, S. E., & England, T. J. (2020). The effects of acute and sustained cannabidiol dosing for seven days on the haemodynamics in healthy men: A randomised controlled trial. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, 86(6), 1125-1138. doi:10.1111/bcp.14225
- Swortwood, M. J., Newmeyer, M. N., Andersson, M., Abulseoud, O. A., Scheidweiler, K. B., & Huestis, M. A. (2017). Cannabinoid disposition in oral fluid after controlled smoked, vaporized, and oral cannabis administration. *Drug Test Anal*, 9(6), 905-915. doi:10.1002/dta.2092
- Sylantyev, S., Jensen, T. P., Ross, R. A., & Rusakov, D. A. (2013). Cannabinoid- and lysophosphatidylinositol-sensitive receptor GPR55 boosts neurotransmitter release at central synapses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110(13), 5193-5198. doi:10.1073/pnas.1211204110
- Tarvainen, M. P., Niskanen, J. P., Lipponen, J. A., Ranta-Aho, P. O., & Karjalainen, P. A. (2014). Kubios HRV--heart rate variability analysis software. *Comput Methods Programs Biomed*, 113(1), 210-220. doi:10.1016/j.cmpb.2013.07.024
- Tarvainen, M. P., Ranta-Aho, P. O., & Karjalainen, P. A. (2002). An advanced detrending method with application to HRV analysis. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*, 49(2), 172-175. doi:10.1109/10.979357
- Taylor, L., Crockett, J., Tayo, B., & Morrison, G. (2019). A Phase 1, Open-Label, Parallel-Group, Single-Dose Trial of the Pharmacokinetics and Safety of Cannabidiol (CBD) in Subjects With Mild to Severe Hepatic Impairment. *J Clin Pharmacol*, 59(8), 1110-1119. doi:10.1002/jcph.1412
- Taylor, L., Gidal, B., Blakey, G., Tayo, B., & Morrison, G. (2018). A Phase I, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Single Ascending Dose, Multiple Dose, and Food Effect Trial of the Safety, Tolerability and Pharmacokinetics of Highly Purified Cannabidiol in Healthy Subjects. CNS Drugs, 32(11), 1053-1067. doi:10.1007/s40263-018-0578-5
- Tayo, B., Taylor, L., Sahebkar, F., & Morrison, G. (2020). A Phase I, Open-Label, Parallel-Group, Single-Dose Trial of the Pharmacokinetics, Safety, and Tolerability of Cannabidiol in Subjects with Mild to Severe Renal Impairment. *Clin Pharmacokinet*, 59(6), 747-755. doi:10.1007/s40262-019-00841-6

- Tozer, T. N., & Rowland, M. (2006). *Introduction to Pharnacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics: The Quantitative Basis of Drug Therapy*. Baltimor: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Tsuji, H., Larson, M. G., Venditti, F. J., Jr., Manders, E. S., Evans, J. C., Feldman, C. L., & Levy, D. (1996). Impact of reduced heart rate variability on risk for cardiac events. The Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*, 94(11), 2850-2855. doi:10.1161/01.cir.94.11.2850
- Turner, C. E., Elsohly, M. A., & Boeran, E. G. (1980). Constituents of Cannabis sativa: A review of natural constituents. *Journal of Natural Products*, 42(2), 169-234.
- van de Donk, T., Niesters, M., Kowal, M. A., Olofsen, E., Dahan, A., & van Velzen, M. (2019). An experimental randomized study on the analgesic effects of pharmaceutical-grade cannabis in chronic pain patients with fibromyalgia. *Pain*, 160(4), 860-869. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001464
- VanDolah, H. J., Bauer, B. A., & Mauck, K. F. (2019). Clinicians' Guide to Cannabidiol and Hemp Oils. *Mayo Clin Proc*, 94(9), 1840-1851. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.01.003
- VanPutte, C., Regan, J., Russo, A., Seeley, R., Stephens, T., & Tate, P. (2020). *Seeley's Anatomy and Physiology*. New York: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Verrico, C. D., Wesson, S., Konduri, V., Hofferek, C. J., Vazquez-Perez, J., Blair, E., . . . Halpert, M. M. (2020). A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of daily cannabidiol for the treatment of canine osteoarthritis pain. *Pain*. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001896
- Vuolo, F., Abreu, S. C., Michels, M., Xisto, D. G., Blanco, N. G., Hallak, J. E., . . . Dal-Pizzol, F. (2019). Cannabidiol reduces airway inflammation and fibrosis in experimental allergic asthma. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 843, 251-259. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2018.11.029
- Ward, F. M. (2000). Uses of Gum Arabic (Acacia sp.) in the Food and Pharmaceutical Industries. . In E. A. Nothnagel (Ed.), *Cell and Developmental Biology of Arabinogalactan-Proteins*. Boston: Springer.
- Wong, A., Montebello, M. E., Norberg, M. M., Rooney, K., Lintzeris, N., Bruno, R., ... McGregor, I. S. (2013). Exercise increases plasma THC concentrations in regular cannabis users. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 133(2), 763-767. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.07.031
- Xiong, W., Cui, T., Cheng, K., Yang, F., Chen, S. R., Willenbring, D., ... Zhang, L. (2012). Cannabinoids suppress inflammatory and neuropathic pain by targeting alpha3 glycine receptors. *J Exp Med*, 209(6), 1121-1134. doi:10.1084/jem.20120242
- Xu, D. H., Cullen, B. D., Tang, M., & Fang, Y. (2020). The Effectiveness of Topical Cannabidiol Oil in Symptomatic Relief of Peripheral Neuropathy of the Lower

Extremities. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol*, *21*(5), 390-402. doi:10.2174/1389201020666191202111534

- Yao, K., McClements, D. J., Xiang, J., Zhang, Z., Cao, Y., Xiao, H., & Liu, X. (2019). Improvement of carotenoid bioaccessibility from spinach by co-ingesting with excipient nanoemulsions: impact of the oil phase composition. *Food Funct*, 10(9), 5302-5311. doi:10.1039/c9fo01328h
- Zanger, U. M., & Schwab, M. (2013). Cytochrome P450 enzymes in drug metabolism: regulation of gene expression, enzyme activities, and impact of genetic variation. *Pharmacol Ther*, 138(1), 103-141. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2012.12.007
- Zbilut, J. P., & Lawson, L. (1988). Decreased heart rate variability in significant cardiac events. *Crit Care Med*, 16(1), 64-66. doi:10.1097/00003246-198801000-00014
- Zou, S., & Kumar, U. (2018). Cannabinoid Receptors and the Endocannabinoid System: Signaling and Function in the Central Nervous System. *Int J Mol Sci*, 19(3). doi:10.3390/ijms19030833